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Jess-Hicas Today -His March 16th, 1995. I am taping a 11ife
history with Dr. Maureen MilbHicia, the cha-irman of the
Theater & Dance Departmenmnt at Marshall Univers-Hity- It +His
1230 +in the afternocon and we're in her office. Tell me

about where you were born and your early childhood.

Maureen: Okay, basically, I was born in Cleveland, Ohio.
You didn't know that. Yes, I was born in Cleveland at
Univers-Hity Hospital. I was born on a Monday at 9:34 -+H4n
the morning, July 26th, 1937. I had a mother and I had

a father. And you Tlaugh, but this s kind of unusual to
have one of each that were married to each other at the
t-ime. I'm an only ch-+dild. My mother had some

miscarriages, I believe before and possibly even after.

It was a tough pregnancy. She was quite -+Hil11. But
nevertheless, I had my mom and dad with me. And we T1-1Hived
in Cleveland for awhiile. And then we went and T-Hiwved -in
New York CHity for awhile. My mother handled talent -HAin
the theater. We went there after my mother and father
separated. We went there for a couple of years. And
about the t-ime I was supposed to enter school, my/
grandmother, who was a Russian—-Jdewish emigrant, Rose
Campbell was her name, Winetraub's the Jewish part. My

grandfather was a Scot—Irishman, said to her that New
York City was no place to raise a child, who was there by
herself as a single mother. And so my mom came back.
From what I understand from the history of my family, -1t

seems Tike my mom and dad were separating quite a bit.



And the basic problem was that my mother really dec-ided
that she had to help with her mother and her mother 1-Hwved
with her. And my dad wanted my mother to make a decis-ion
that they would move to Akron, Ohio to work were he went.
And my mother basically chose her mother over her
husband. And so I was probably forty when I found the
d-+iwvorce papers and fFound out my Ffather divorced my

mother. So I thought that was a bummer because I would

have gotten rid of h-im. But uh... it was a good, -+Hit was
a good T1+1ife. I had a tremendous support system. My
mother, my grandmother and I THived together. My

grandmother had some brothers and sHisters who were all
single, they were all emigrants. My Uncle WHillie owned
a barber shop #in Cleveland. I would go to the barber
shop and he would give me a shave and a haircut Ffor
probably a quarter. And my great—grandmother was still
alive and my great—grandfather [audio problems—inaudible]
apple of everyone's eye and probably the only ch-ild for
ten years until my cousin was born, my Uncle Sanford's
daughter. So I had a tremendous amount of TJTove. Plus
the fact, my mother had quit school -“in about the eleventh
grade; she got Scarlet Fever or something. And education
is really stressed and really -importanmnt in our house. We
were very big sports fan because my Uncle Sanford was a
football player. They TlToved the Cleveland Indians and
the Cleveland Browns. But more than that, they had these
things at +the Cleveland Museum of Art on Saturday
afternocons for young kids. And I don't know...maybe I

was seven or eight. But they were like art classes, and



I always TlToved that. So my grandmother, who was this
Tittle Jewish woman about four—foot three, and I was
already bigger when I was seven years old than she -bis,
because I stand about five—-six or —eight, Nnow...we'd get
on Tike three buses or streetcars in the old days and
we'd go to the Cleveland Museum of Art where I T-Hive. She

would take me there and she would go home. We would have

Tunch there and painting classes. I'd be there all day
on Saturday. She would come back on all the buses and
streetcars by herse’lf. She would pick me up and we'd go

home, on all these buses and streetcars, because my
mother worked. I think I"'m telling you that because she
probably abused me mentally because she had Tost a
daughter. I"'m named after her dead daughter who got
killed by an automobile, -t dragged her about a hundred
feet then killed her when she was nine years old. I was
born short—, you know, Tike a couple years Tater, so she
was wvery protective. Don'"t go swimnming, don't walk -in
fromt of the car. But I'm saying that because even
though I didn't, you know, I was sitting there thinking
of a year ago, about abuse. And since you are in pre—med
and you're probably Hinterested in this, +€dit's -"dinteresting
the way my grandmother used to spank me or beat me, she
really dAdid. She did some really bizarre things. She was
a mad Russian. She'd take a knife and get(in between the
refrigerator and the stove, you know, when she'd threaten
me, she'd never hurt me. She thought she was doing it
for my own good. As I Took back, I think, ""Right, but,

my God, they'd lock her up +in prison today". Right? A1



right. But I Toved her and I wanted you to know that -+Hif
I mentioned some of these things Tater on that there was
so much TJove and caring. I have my Aunt Ethel, who was
again about the size of my grandmother, who would take me
to the movies on a Saturday a-FternoonWw-ith all those
screaming kids. She had to be abou w.l?\&{)r:g I am now. I
couldn't conceive going to the Saturday afterncon, with
the kids screaming and doing things. [audioc problems—
Ainaudible] And my aunt would go and -Hit was just kind of
a aluminum kind of a gun with a pink handle, that was
really kind of Tike a feminine gun, but €1t was a Gene
Autry gun. They were all single, so they Jjust really
gave me a lot of things, a Tot of Tove, a Tot of t-ime.
Here's a lTady who was bas-ically probably +in her "30's and
'40's at the time, would go and take me places. So I
never really...I guess I felt abandoned because I d-idn't
have a father. He never did much to try and make amends.
It wasn't unmntil my mother died that he became a human
being. But my step—mother was a very nice person. She
would send me birthday cards and try to keep +in touch.
For all the years, until she died Jjust about a year and
a half ago, this woman was the reason that my mothe&r and
I have a relationship today- And my mother...she had,
she had a reason, too. She explained that this woman was
not the reason that they separated, that I should never
blTlame this woman. So when you talk about a dysfunctional
fFfamily and the kids run wild and this, I had so much
support and so much understanding from so many people, to

try to make me ""normal’. I..-.I Tove drawing. Art was my



fFavorite thing to do. They would buy me oil paints when
I was a k-id. I had a movie projector they bought -Hin
19473 I still have it. A stixteen mill-imeter movie

projector, -t had a real Tight that was the Tamp. It was

a Qvlcj et

and the date's on -Hit. I was ten years old. I have alil
my old f+iIms. They bought me, as I sa‘id, oil paints, my
aunt and uncle. I would have wood burning sets. It, for

peocple who didn't go to college and some of them were
foreign and some of them, not much of an education, they
bought books and records...I had record players. I have
to tell you, I couldn't have had a better cultural
background +Hif I'd had college parents. It seems lHike

these people knew everything to do to, for a young person

to be creative and to stretch thedir mind. I had a
wonderful childhood. I went out and I blew this. And
you 're probably gonna psychocanaly=ze -+HGt. But I really
d-id. I had. . .my mother was my best friend. My
grandmother was my best friend and my worse enemy. I had
a father who was absent. I remember making a remark when
I was, fbirst came to West Virginia, over thifty years

ago, I was probably in my '20's, that +4f I died, I d-idn't
want this man...I had already had cancer. So I sa-id -+iFf
I died, I didn't want this man coming and crying over my
grave. If he couldn't be the type of person that could
relate when I was alive, I didn't want him there. I
remember my mother was there, my roommate, %ggﬁg:and her
mother, and everybody, Hit's jus£ Tike they stopped dead.

But I really felt that way- I felt so alienated Ffrom



this man, that I didn't want him crying over my grave.
If he couldn't be a person to me, I didn't want him beqing
a person to a dead body.- I probably..-.I don't know what
the other wor 1d is Tike. I th-ink you go Ainto,
personally, into a different dimension. And +if he'd been

standing there, I'd probably spit on his head at that

t-ime. But as I sa-+id, we ' ve resolved a Tot of
d+ifferences. You grow up, you understand. And even -Ff
you don't understand, you forgive, what the hell! You
only do this T11ife once. You better do the best job you

know how.

But uh. . .I remember going to plays, I remember going
to movies. My mother would take her day off and we'd go
see a double—feature. We would go out and eat, we'd go

to the dime store, I'd get a quarter to buy a toy-. She
was wonderful. I was -+in not the Girl Scouts, Camp Fire
Girls. I wanted to be a Camp Fire Girl. And I needed an
outfit. I'd gotten a bicycle, I think my father bought
me five things #in fifty—seven years, and the bicycle's
the one thing I remember, so I could ki1l myself. But I
couldn'"t r-ide -Hit. I had no coordination. So my mother
went to work. She worked at a store downtown Cleveland.
And we talked, and she said +if I TJTearned to ride the
bicycle, she would bring me back my Camp Fire outf-it. So
I remember that day.- My grandmother even came downsta-kirs
and said, "Get +in the house, you're gonna kill yourself."
I was falling and I was bleeding. But by the end of the
day, it was a Saturday, I could ride that damn bicycle.

I had no contact with my mother. She came home form work



and guess what she had? The Camp Fire outf-it. I never
fFHigured out, either she was Jjust going to bring it
anyway, or whether she knew that, giving me that
challenge, that I would do everything in my power to
ride that bicycle. She really didn't care whether I rode
it, because she didn't want me riding it being out -+in the
street anyway. I must have been about eleven or twelve,
eleven. The -"Hidea was that it was kind of Tike a blight.
I was such a klut=. People made fun of me, that she knew
was -"{important for me to ride the bicycle. Personally I
don't [audio problems -+in tape]..-because I would have
Just taken the bicycle, g-iven it to the boy on the
street. Even then I had that type of philosophy. She
Just thought bt was -"“important to me, so she made -+t
Aimportant for her.

I didn'"t know I was poor. I was poor. I didn't
tell you that. We used to have a fruit bowl, Tike on the
aluminum dining room table, and it always had money -+in
At. You know...a quarter, a nickel, a dime, change my
grandma would throw the things -“in there. And I would,
"Mamma, can I have a nickel for a candy car? Mamma, can
I have a nickel for a, a dime for a comic book?"™ My two
fFavorite things in the old days, comic books and candy
bars. And there was always money.- And my mother at one
time worked in a knitting mill, so I had all these Tittle

cute sweaters that -"Htched me that I hated.

with Tittle skirts. I was a cute THittle k-id, Tittle
curly ha-kir. I never knew because my mother sacrificed

that I had the nicest clothes, the gecd shoes. Back -+Hin



'(7\ }/";_kk.

those days, ninstéen dollars for a pair of kids shoes,
you're talking fHifty years ago. I remember the one thing
that my mother and father, I vremember dissention, was
that he thought that was too much to put on a kid's foot.
I"11 tell you the truth. My dad buys his shoes now at K-—
Mart. So, he's eighty—one years old. And that's what
she had to deal with. But. . .we had good shoes, wonderful
clothes. Always seemed to have enocough Ffood. For not
only us, but for everybody.- I mean, a stranger would
come to the house, we would always have enocough food -+Hin
the pot. A fFamily could sit down and eat with us. I
didn"t know I was poor. The only time I've ever felt
really, really bad, my senior year in college at Western
Reserve, I don't know +if I"'m going to be able to talk
about this. My mother got wvery sick. I anted to qu-it
school and work. And she told me that he whole 1-1ife she

wanted me to have an education, and that she would die -+Hi-f

I did this. So I worked at night at General Electric
from 11 to 7 +in the morning. I went and did my student
teaching from 8 wuntil1l 3:30. Then I went to my classes

and wvisited with my mother, because we had to take two
extra classes. And uh, No one was really there to help
us. I had an uncle who was Just about a multi—
millHdonadire at that point. I"11 tell you a funny story
about him. My mother's friend, a friend of hers helped
us, but we wou1d(‘/have encough money to pay the rent. You
had to pay it on the first, but we didn't get ocur checks
for disabilbity or anything until about the third, and

with my check. ... But she had a friend that was so cheap



she squeaked. She used one tea bag for a whole month.
Elsie would have a half—-pound butter or quarter—pound
butter for a whole year. She was really, you
know. . -. people made fun of her. And she'd save all this

money and then she'd marry a guy and he'd take all of her

money and Jdisappear. She sa‘id, she worked for the city
and she sa-id she should wor k for the sanitation
department because she picked up all the garbage. And

I'm say-ing this because this woman was my mother's
friend. She was the only one that would bring ﬁy money
to my grandmother so she could pay the rent on the f-Hirst.

Then on the third, when our money would come +in, my check

and everything, she would give -t back to her. So this
cheap woman was the only one that saved ocur Tives. No
one else in ocour fTamily really cared. But I went to

graduate, and you had to have so much money to get your
cap and gown. And I had sold all my books and everything
I could, and I was a dollar short. A dollar short!? And
I was s+itting there “in the Student Union over at West
Reserve Univers-ity, trying to figure out how the hell to
do this. This person came over to me and said, "My, God,
Maureen, I haven't seen you. Remember you gave me that
dollar a year ago and I've been trying to find...I don't
even remember. I do not remember ever giving anyone a
dollar. And handed me the dollar and I went and got my
graduation gown. I walked home, it was a Tot of miles
because I had no car fare. But I had my gown. And Hdin my
student teaching, the k-ids that I had there, you're not

allowed to take presents and stuff.... I remember they

10



bought me a white blouse with a Tot of frilly things, and
Just a couple—a tennis racket. I never played tennis,
but I stil1ll1l have -+Ht. And all these useless things. But
that blouse was Jjust great with this white skirt that I
had so I could wear -+Hit underneath my graduation gown.
But, then I knew I was having trouble financially- I

remem r when I graduated, I went and Tooked for a job.

I cot\jzi:l not not have a Jjob. I nmneeded a job now. And I
went and I got this Jjob. But I couldn’'t start for a
week. It's almost Tike God sa-id, "Take a week, go to
sleep, get up, " you know..."lHve". And I d-id. From then
I never stopped working. We never went hungary-

But I never realized all of tTthis. That so many
pecple sacrificed Ffor me. And. . .and that's my youth.

That was my young l-ife. God, I THived a Tong t-ime. Okay.,

what else do you want to know?

Jesstica:z When did you move out of New York?
Maureen: When did I move out of New York. Well, we went

there when I was about two, and Tleft probably when I was
Four and a half. Probably two and a half years. We

THived on Seventy—second Street, overlooking Central Park.

Jess-icas And you mowved from New York back to...?
Maureen: Cleveland (Cleveland?) Cleveland at the time

when my grandmother needed us. She got together again

with my dad. But my grandmother then had to THive with

11



us . Then +Hit Just all fell apart- I guess when I was

about fHive they separated for the Tast t-ime. I don't
know exactly. As I told you, I found the-ir divorce
papers, what? Ten years ago? I was forty—someth-ing
before I even knew my Ffather divorced my mother. I

remember saying something to him. He said that they had
split many times and that he had asked her to go with him
to Akron because he was doing construction work. And she
refused to go. And uh, I think he was fooling around,
but that's alright, because he's eighty—one, he focols
around nNnow. But I think, it was Jjust that he wanted his
wife with him and she made a choice. She chose her
mother. Personally, I'm glad she d-id. I have to tell
you . But «f I had lived -+in the enviromment of my dad's
house, I would not have had a college education, I would
not have been able to be what I am today- And I really
Tike myself a Jot, because he's wvery Italian. He
comes. . -.my mother grandparents were -immigrants, too, from
Italy- And now he's proud of me, of who and what I am.
But you know, so much bis Just Tike get married, have k-ids
and stuff Tike that. And he was, he's so oppressive. He
really is. He has a horrible temper. I have one, toco.
I"'m Just Tike h-im. I hate -Hit- But I think -Gt would have
been awful THwving in that enviromment with that man all
those years. I would have never been able to Tike h-im.
I nmnow Tlove him. Okay? I would never have been able to
Tike him had I been raised by him, to see how he would
have been verbally abus-ive to my mother, domineering. IFf

you meet my dad, you think he's the greatest guy 1in the

12



wor 1d . Your dad knows my dad. He'11l take the whole
group out to eat and everything. But when it came +to
buying me a pair of shoes for nine bucks, he wouldn't
have given her the money-

No, I Tove him, but I would not have chosen to 1-Hike

h-im. I would not choose h-im for a father. But uh...he's
FHine. You know. ..there's worse. But that, we Just...we
Just THived there for a wvery short period of t-ime. And

she continued doing some of the talent work anmd going to
work and coming back. But my grandmother was there, I
was there, she just settled down to a mundane job mak-ing
Tike a buck—ten an hour, Just enocough for us to starve to
death on. Never, never FfTulfilled her dreams except
through me. Wanted to be a Jjournalist, wanted to be -Hin
the show business thing, you know, and to manage stuff.
And she had to end up managing a Red Robin's dress shop,
e o
or working in the garment department at gk vis. Ovr you

know what I"'m saying? Or Lane Bryant, she had to work at

these shit jobs.

Jesstica:s Why didn't she go into journal-ism?
Maureen: Because she had a mother and a daughter to
support. She couldn't go back to school. She wasn't,

she was a wonderful woman and very strong and raised me,
and you know, we never wanted. But she didn't have the
strength to stand up to her mother. She needed somebody.-
She needed a good...by the time I was old enocugh to

support her -“in doing what she was, the one thing that I

13



hate -His she died before I could give her more. She died
very young. I gave her a Tot. But I...I didn't have

time to pay her back.

Jessicas Why did you Teave Cleveland?
Maureen: Oh, why did I Teave Cleveland. ..because I met

a young man who came to teach at a high school I was

teaching at. He brought me to wvis-Hit his family in West
Virgtinia. I fell {in TJove with West Virginia. We never
got married. I was his sister's rocommate for about
twenty, twenty—five years. We saw each other all that
time, but we never married. His mother Toved me and she
sadid, "I Tove you so much I want to tell you, do not
marry my Son. I€t"11 be the worst mistake you'll ever
make. " And she was right. He never got married. I
could tell you horror stories when. ... He bis so much for

himself that Hit's not that the world revolves around h-im.
It's Just there's no one eelse in his world. B-ig
example. - . . New Year's Eve, his sister and I and
everyone, were "invited to a party. Now, mind you, I'm
not ten years old—I"'m a woman nNnow. I"'m probably twenty—
fFive years old, twenty—-s-ix years old. I"'m down here and
uh. ..he never really said he was going to go to this
party- But I just knew he would come down. So we were
sitting there and his s-ister says to me, ""You going to
s+it here until midnight? This is New Year's Evey, why +in
the hell don't you go over there? He'l1ll find you over

there. Leave a note on the door.' No, no, I"11 wait.

14



I say this to you because I say it out of uh...an -"Hidea
that you should take a Tesson here- But nevertheless, we
Jeft and we went over there to this party. A Tot of
people, nice people having fun. At about ten minutes to
midnight, it was over +Hin Ohio across from Huntington,

[audio problems]...door and everybody's really happy

because guess who walks +{in? Bil1l. And he comes -+in and
he Tooks at me and he said, "I thought we were going to
spend New Year's together and you're not there. And I
Teft the party- Today, he would have Teft the party.

And that's the whole thing- What the hell. You had ten
m-inutes, Nnine minutes to New Year's. You could have
stayed. Now I don't drink. But he d-id. You could have
had a drink, you could have had a coke or something. You
could have been nice to the people. I wasn't there
wa-tditing for h-im. How absolutely absurd. I shouldn't
even have thought about waditing for him. And Hdt was
always things Tike that. It's Just like...I had, FfHirst

of all, I was an "intelligent adult woman. Why would I be

sitting around waiting for someone. But €Hit's Just that
he never thought I wouldn't be there. I mean, he was
Just, not outraged. I mean, he didn't abuse me. But he

was like hurt! I was sitting there. He f-Hinally got there

at 11230 and I wasn't there. He never said he was
com-ing .- I Just knew he was going to be there.

So..-..s0, we're still friends. I mean, not, I mean Jjust
friends. But it was because of h-im. He came to teach -—Hin

Cleveland at the same high school. I, when I got out of

college, instead of going Hinto teaching or into the

15



theater or television or anything, I did do some of the
work part—time. I went Hinto retailing Tike my mom. I
was a buying assistant in a department store, mak-ing

$52, 000 a year, doing good money. I had an accident. I

have an artificial bone in my Tleft Teg. I fell down
fFifty steps at the Rapid Transit. So I had a TlTot of
problems and I st+411 wor ked the Job. But when I

Finished, I realized I couldn't physically do a lTot of
the things forever. So I went to find a job. I had a
secondary teaching cert-ificate. While I was sitting, no,
they sent me to this high school. While I was s-Hitting in
the principal’'s office, I was going to teach the Engl-ish
classes, the speech, radio, theater teacher called and
qu-it. And the man Tooked at -Hit, it started with a K, a
Tittle old man, God, he must have been ninety. Sa-id,
"TWell, Ms. Milbdcia, it Tooks Tlike you are more qqual-ified
to teach speech and theater and everything, thanmn you are
Englbish." And I said, "Well..." He said, ""How would you
1like that job?"™ And I sa‘id, "Oh, boy, would I." And I
taught at John Adams High School during the day, and
John. . . John Adams during the day and John Hay at night,
adult education. I always, always had two Jobs. I was
bored +if I had to s-+it. And Bill came to teach. He'd
graduated from Marshall. He was an English teacher. We
got to be really good Ffriends. And as I said, I came
down here and I Just. . . Just T1Hi ke the speed and
everything. I Tiked not going at you know, a hundred and
ten miles an hour, ninety was good enocough. There was

Just. . .when I FfFdirst came down here, my mother sa-id

16



something to me. Because we always TlTHived +in the fast
Tane. She said, ""Oh, my God, after you go down third and
up FfFifth, what do you do? Or down fHifth and up third?"
And I said, "Well, maybe you grow up." Before she d-ied,
she was trying to get herself in a position, finmancially.
to come down here and Tdive with my stepfather and
everything. Because she really lTearned to Tove -Hit.

But you know, it's so different. I mean, you know,

Took at New York City, Cleveland, Ohio...Huntington, West

Virginia? But there's so much to be said.... And I
mean, you really do grow up. You put your pr-iorities +in
the rtight place. And I came to get a graduate degree.

And they hired me before I graduated and I never Tleft.
So I Tike the Jjob. And poor Bill wasn't here. He was
sti11l up there and he want.ed to come back here. He
couldn't come back here because they didn't hire husbands
and wives, and we were headed in that direction. I told

him to do &t anyway- But he didn't. [imterruption to

answer telephone]]

Jessica:s You mentioned you never married B+Hil1l. Why d-id

you never marry at all?

Maureen: Oh, boy, I don't really know. Yes, I do. When
I was twenty—one years old, I was diagnosed with cancer.

And I total and complete hysterectomy. At that time, I

was Jjust about coming ocout of college. I was working at
the store. I had a couple of really, really bad years.
I mentioned the accident with the lTeg. But I had l1ike

17



cancer surgery, a comp lete hysterectomy . ¥ had
gallilstones removal. And the accident was all +in a per-iod
of Tike three to four years. I want you to know I never
missed a day of teaching.- It would be lT1Tike -+H“n the
sSummer . Now I d-id, the job, when I had the job with the
Take, see, I was already--.-- Yeah, I F+Hrst had the
accident and then other things happened. I really 1-Hiked
kids. And I have to tell you the truth. I don't...I say
this, but I don't really know the answer to that. Maybe
the reason His that since I couldn't have children, I

didn't want to put up with a husband. I don't know. I

Tove my i ndependence, I Tove who and what I am.
I...I...TI relate to men well. I always have. It's not
that. I could have. Today, my friends who were up from

Florida, they made a crack to someone, we were sitting

around, that he would marry me at any moment at any time.

And he's eligible. Uh. . .as you grow older, you grow more
i ndependent. I had a good l1+Hife and I have encough money.
I don't know. To me marriage meant family- And +Hif you

can't have a family, what the Hell do I need with all the

aggravation for. No, you know what I'm saying- I think
that's +Hit. I don't know. I don't know. But I d-idn't.
But his mother was r-tight. Bill was not the one.
Jess-tica:s You mentioned a stepfather. Did your mother
remarvry?

Maureen: Yes, when I was twenty—one years old, or

twenty—two. She didn't remarry until then. Because she
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didn't want me to have a stepfather. She didn't want

anyone telling me what to do and maybe bringing striife

into our sHituation. So she dated. She was an
attractive woman, heavy set, but attractive. Always had
boyfriends and everything, you know, men friends, who
were very nice to me. But she really never.. .. And when
she

trash. But, well, he was already put up with my
grandmother I guess. That's okay- But basically., she

really didn't marry unti’l I was out of college and
working. It wasn't until Just before I guess...I was
still THving at home. And I'm trying to think the cancer
surgery, and then I moved out after my cancer surgery.
Because my mother and grandmother, every time I would get
a cold or -+if something would hurt, they would think,

"Oh..-"" And I couldn't TlHiwve, I said I couldn't THive with

this. I have to forget and go on with my 1-1ife. So you
have to understand. My grandmother threw a fit, because
she wanted all her THittle chicks r-ight there. But my

mother help me set up an apartment, not because she
didn't want me there, and didn't Tove me. But she knew
I had to get away from my grandmother, otherwise, I'd end

up the same way she d-id.

So, she was wvery bright. So I got an apartment.
Yeah, he was all right. He drank, and I believe he was
an alcoholic. He was never abusive. But, I taught him

how to drive, I bought them their fHirst car. I remember
a lTecture I gave when they bought their really new, new

car. The thing Tooked Tike a wreck and he kept having
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wrecks. He would back "{into a tree with nobody else -+Hin
the car. And I told him one day, "If you kill my mother
in an accident when you're drinking and driving..." my
mother held her breath because it was the only time I
ever talked back to anybody, I said, "you'll never take

another breath on this earth +Hif you -"injure my mother."

And that's the only bad word I ever said to the man. But
Gt was getting kind of bad. I could see...he did have an
accident that "HAinjured her, AN a sense, her back, she
already had cancer, which was already in pieces. And
that wasn't very Nnice. Plus the fact, he had a
girilfriend on the side. I fFfound that out afterwards. I

remember after my mother died, we were there and a phone
call came +in at about 3 o'clock in the morning., when the
bars closed, 3: 30. And I picked up the phone in one room

and he picked up the phone #in the other, and I heard a

woman's wvoice. So I hung up.- And he told me that, he
got dressed and he was going out. And I sa-id, "What's
this?" "Oh, they're calling me into work." And so he

walked out the door and I was going out the door after

him with my roommate who was there, because we were there

about my mother's stuff. And she said, "You're like the
dog who chases the car. What are you going to do when
you catch the car?"™ My mother was already dead.

I didn't know my mother knew about -€Hdt. My aunt was
kind enocough to tell me that she thought my mother knew
this was happening. I hope not. She was a wvery proud
woman . But this guy turned out to be a Jjerk. He was

bleeding me for money and bleeding my uncle for money.
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saying you know, my mother needed this, my mother needed

that. He was really supporting another woman on our
money .

And then my mother bought some stock. And she
didn't put her name and his name on -+Hit. Because she was
trying to get herself.... She put my name and his name

on this i1 Tuminating stock where he worked. So that when
she died, he had to come to me to s-Hign -+Hdt. And everyone
sa-tid, "You are such a fool1 1™ But I Just s-Higned
everything over to him. It wasn't my money, it was the-ir
money - And I didn't want anything from him. I Just
wanted rid of h-im. I wanted rid of h-im. I didn't want
to become responsible for him +in my 71-4fe. So I haven't
heard from h-im. He had a son that started bleeding me
for cash, too, and I said, ""Hey., guy, your Ffather married

" He was a

my mother. I didn't choose you to raise.
marine, he was working, he had a wife. And he needea mys
money, too? Forget that, Dawvid. I did send him money
once and my roommate said [inaudible] And so then

he would always call collect and finally one day she

sadid, "Dawvid, +Hif you can't pay fTor the call, we can't

Jess-Hicas Was it Bonnie?
Maureens: No, no, Ginny Plumley (Bill's sister). Dvr.
Plumley- She's still teaching here. She was a student,

too. We were students together. But yeah, yeah. ...
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Jesstica:s Okay, tell me about be-ing at teenager and your

years at college.

Maureen: Now, see, you're asking me about a period of my

Tife that I really don't have any thought about. (okay)

Maybe I wasn't a real happy teenager. And even An
college. Theater was my whole 714 fe. And so I always had
my theater friends. We dJd-id plays.- And I guess I was

Just so focused on the stuff I don't remember having much
of a T14ife in college. I belong...well, I didn't belong
to a sorority because I thought they were too. ... So I
Joined +this -Hindependent women's group, Alpha Dex-ioma.
And then they went national. They Joined the

So I ended up in a soror-ity anyway. And then kind of...I
went to Southern Baptist Uniwvers-Hity my fFHirst year.
Stetson, I won an art scholarship there. And the point
was, they didn't take any Jewish members. So I sa-id, "I
better get ocut because..." you know. And they said no.
So I was probably the fHirst Jewish woman to be +in a
Chr-istian sorority or something. But I ended up...XI
nNever. .. it was never "Timportanmnt to me. And I remember
when I went Western Reserve they, the Jewish girls had a
group or sorority. I Just never [aud-io
problems]. . .types. I Just don't remember a lTot about my
teenage years. I remember Tiking books and drawing and

painting, and Tliking being around adults more than kids.

I didn't Tike people my own age. I always Tliked to
relate to adults. I don't have much.
I"11 tell you an -Hdincident, though. [interruption—
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audio difficulties] ...as I am now, fat. I TNTost about

fFifty or sixty pounds and I was a Tocoker. I Tooked Tike

Sophia Loren, I have some pictures I'11 show you. Ovr
Gina Lolabr-idg-ida. And I really Tooked good. I was a
mode T . And the girls that really didn't want to be my

friends when I was fat, when the girls starting hanging
around me, they would -"Hinvite me to parties so the guys
would come. And I always thought that I stayed heavy
after that because I thought people 1iked me better for
who I was when I was heavy, that they JjJust wanted my body
and what I could bring them. I don't know that that's
true. That might be a Jjustification. But I always
thought about that. You know...I can start and stop
anything. I don't smoke, I don't drink, you know, so
what the hell. I could do not other things, toco. But
that happened a couple times -in my 1-1ife. Once when I was
very young, there again I had an accident. And I was
dy-ing. And the doctor thought, I didn't get hurt, but
psychology [audio problems]...Vitamin B—12 shots and
THdver shots and all this stuff. And one day, he was my
doctor, he called me and I was about twelve or thirteen.
NWNe were at an amusement park. And the heat from the
sheet metal brought, it was called the Dippy—

Whip, brought the sheet metal up and cut my car -+in half
and the handle bars. But I released my hands and I
scooted to the side so I was not " injured at all. The car
was in half, and the handle bars were gone. And everyone
was, "Oh, my God, you're so Tlucky. You should have

died." I was there with the neighbor and her ch-ildren.
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You know, we didn't have, I didn't have my father or
mother. So the k1ids, their mothers and fathers took me.
They said that all the t-ime. I think I "Pinternalized,
"Oh, my God, you're so lTucky. You should have died.'™ I
JTost about fHifty pounds {in a month. And that's about the
time, no, I was twelve or thirteen. I Tooked Tike I was
sixteen. And the doctor just said, "If you want to die,
Maureen, you go ahead, because I'm not going to give you
anything else. There's absolutely nothing wrong with

you . Except, you think you should have died, and so

you're willing yourself to d-ie. It was hard for me to

beldieve that you could do that. And he gave me that
speech not to come back any more. And of course, I went
back. He took care of my family,. my grandmother, my
mother and myself. He was my doctor my whole 71+ fe.

But after that, I turned my whole 1ife around. And

then that was when I was thin and Tooked good. The
peocple Tiked me. I was about twelve or thirteen. The
whole thing really made an " impression on me. That I

wanted people to Tike me for who I was and my mind and
everything, not for what I Tooked 1-1ike. But that's such
a shallow thing. You know. . .your beauty Ffades. You ' re
beautiful when you're young, and then you get older and
this and that. So +if you don't have anything to offer as
a human being and your body "His the only thing pecople are
relating to, how scary -H§is that? And, and I'm surprised

I thought about it when I was young, but I d-id.

END OF SIDE 1
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Jess-ticas You've got a couple of Tong—term roommates.

Maureen: And I've had a couple of Tong—term not Tiiwving
with roommates, too. I've lTived a Tong time by myself.
When I came down to West Virgtinia, I was going for my
master's degree. Bill's sister was here and she was
going for her bachelor's, even though she's older. She
Just turned sixty, as a matter of fact. She hates me for
saying that. And so the two of us were Tooking for a
place to T-Hiwve together. We Ffound a wonderful house on

Mi1ller Road for lTike seventy—five dollars a month, which

was wonderful. This man found €t Ffor us, this guy,
Shorty, who's dead now. And so we Just kind of T1-Hiwved
together. I got my master’'s and she finally got her

master's. I got my Ph.D. And then finmnally one day, and
we bo-...aght some properties together at differenmnt places.
One day it Jjust dawned on me, "My, God, I went from lHike
mys mother's house to an apartment, then I came down
here. ™ I really Just needed to grow up and be able to
stand on my own two feet. I didn't need anyone there
around. So I took one of the houses, she took one of the
houses, and that's the way it was. Then I went to T1-Hive
in Charleston. Bonnie's roommate wor ked for the
telephone company- She got a transfer to the Maryland
area, and Bonnie wanted someone to share expenses. So I
sa-id, "What the heck™. So I bought -“into her house.
That's really how -it happened. And you know, bHdt's k-ind
of you Tdive together -independentily. But 1t"s not bad.

It's not bad having, you know, being an only child,
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having brothers and sisters to fall back on, because
Ginny had, she was one of seven. Ginny and Bill were one
of seven. And I stil1l1 have all those people are still my
friends. I mean, Just because you don't room with
someone, it doesn't mean you're not friendly any more.
And the same thing, Bonnie has, well, she has a vegetable
for a sister and a Jjerk for a brother, who's really,
well, I won't tell you that. The older sister had a baby
and her parents adopted -Hit, so her brother’'s her nephew.
The younger sister, the one who's +the hypochondriac,
who's stil1l here with us, trying to take care of her
mother. I will say this for Betty- She's really trying
to help now that the ﬁother's almost close to death. She
really is. So, she's her own worse enemy. But €Hit's nice
having this family to bitch about.

So, I don't see it as any problem.

Jess-tHicas Tell me about how you got -“involved -Gin theater.
Maureen: Well, my mother. From the time...I was born,
I really wasn't born in a trunk. But she was always
handling singers and stuff. I never wanted to act, but

I always hung around and I Tooked. I participated -+in the
Cleveland Playhouse, McKinley Players, music carnival,
Carimou Theater, a Tot in Junior and senior high school.
It's Just that I never remembered not being [Hinterested -+in
theater. Even though I did art work, theater was my ma-in
Tove. Not acting, but working backstage and JjJust being

around . And then when I went to college I took a lTot of
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subjects and worked on a Jot of plays.

Jess-tica:s How d-id you end up here? In the position that

you are N Now.

Maureen:= Well, because I came here with B4il11l. They
hired me before I graduated. And they hired me, I was
producer/director of educational radio and television.
And while I was doing that, and trying to work around all
those i ncompetent males, the guy in the speech
department, George Harpold, he Jjust Toved me. He sa-id,
""Oh, hell, come and teach for me full time."™ And I d-id.
I taught broadcasting. And then they were going to move
into a College of Fine Art, School of Fine Art, Ff-Hirst.
There was a man by the name of Bill Kearns. And Dorothy
Johnson..-I"11 tell you this. Dorothy Johnson was the
cha-dirman. And Bi11l and ETaine and N.B. were supposed to
move, the three of them. And Bill was close to wanting
to retire. We, you probably met him with Elaine. They
stil are good friends. And he didn't want to go.
Whether he thought that this whole "didea would fa-+il, or I
don'"t know why- But Bill wasn't a risk taker. And I
thought, in my mind, that Dorothy said -+Hif you don't go,
you don't have a Jjob. And I thought that was awful. OF

course, I opened my big mouth and then I sa‘id, "That -His

really not nice."™ So she sa-qid, "Well, you have somewhat
of a theater background. Why don't you put your money
where your mouth -His?" And I sa-id, "Well, +Hif they'11
take me, I"11 go." And I went. The fHirst semester I
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taught two theater courses and two speech broadcasting
courses . And the deal was for three years, +9f I didn't
Tike them here, then I could go back to speech. Ov +-Ff

they didn't TlTike me, you know, +bif I didn't FfFulfill a

Nneed, then they could send me back. And that was
wr i tten. Well, the f-Hirst semester I taught two classes,
the second I already taught four, six classes. By the
FHirst summer I was dJdirecting. And I uh, I had, I had

some rough times. And I kept thinking about going back,
and it was still Tike in the third year. I was going to
go back, but Dorothy didn't answer her phone when I was
hot. And by the time she called me back, I had cocoled
off. And so then the time period ended. A couple of
times I went to the deans and stuff and I, I was offered
the chairmanship of the speech/communications department.
And I, for whatever reason, didn't accept that, at that
point. I mean, because they wanted someone from the
Anside. And the dean then, Daryl Leaming, wanted someocone
from the outside, not -“in the department. I didn't, I
knew all these pecople and I didn't want to - impose myself,
although they would have Tiked me. But I knew what they
wanted. So I just told them I wouldn't do -Hit. What
he did +is he hired a guy from WVU that Tasted exactly one
year. That was a mess. But he sa-id he didn't care what
they wanted——he was going to do this. But I didn't want
to be a party to Hit. So I Jjust stayed put. And uh, then
one day I FfFinmnally took my first summer off, my FHirst
wvacation in about fifty—five years. They called me back

and offered me the "Hinterim chairmanship and here I are.
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That's how -t happened. It's not, Hit's...dit's not been
hard, #it's not been easy. It's hard because the man that
was chabir bis still there. Think about someone who for
ten or twelve years kept putting your thumb down on th-is
person and making it an oppressive sHituation and then you
wake up one morning and that person Nnow His your superior.
I "dmagine that's a horrible position to be -Hin. But I
also recognize bit's a horrible it puts me -+in because no
matter what I do, it Tooks Tlike you're punishing someone
when I really don't. So you bend over backwards not to
do anything, and you become a doormat -in that particular
dnstance. Although I"'ve stood up a THittle bit more.
It's kind of a hard thing. I don't want to hurt the man.
I don't want to do to the man what he did to me. And yet
he continues to do things to me. And I shouldn't take

it. And I...do.

Jess-tica:s You mentioned some health problems that you had

AN your past, and your driabetes now. How -“Gis that?
Maureen: Yes. Well, yes, yes. I have more than Jjust
that. I have diverticulosis and I'm on pain medication

for different things, deter-tioration of the knees and
hips, of that nature. I have diabetic neuropathy. I do

not feel my Ffeet, but I feel pain, and -Hit's hard to

balance. If I have no shoes, I can't balance. Excuse
me. [interruption to answer telephone]]
Jessica:s We were talking about your health.
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Maureen: Oh, my health. I have a Tot of health
problems. I really do. But I don't perceive them as
being a negative. It seems Tike all my Tlife I've had
things, all the way from you know, Tike cancer, wh-ich
really didn't affect me, to an artificial bone in my leg
to hawving an appendix operation, to hawving my gal’
b1ladder taken out, to having a polyp removed Ffrom my
Aintestines. You know what I'm saying? It seems TlHike
I"'ve always had to cope with something like that. And I

Just take -Hit, Hdit's Just there. And you handle -+Hit. As I

get older, I'm more <t-Hired. The diabetes with diabetqic
neuropathy, is a real problem. But not enocough I behave
myself. The deter-Hioration, the pain, I go to pafin
management. There's just a TJot of health problems. But

9ifF you hear me moan and groan, and your dad moans and
groans, too, I Jjust have to say, +if there's nothing we
can medically do about -Hit, you have to Tearn to Tive with
it and you have to play the hand that God deals you. So,
to me, uh...this -His okay- They ' 're there. What can I
tell you. Every day, you know, you get an abscess here,
they take your teeth out, and now after six or seven
months they're gonna put something in. I got the thing
in my neck, my vertebrae, my fourth and fifth vertebrae's
squashed. I don't know why the hell -[Hit's squashed, but
the pa-in, I had to go to therapy- I did tTthis for a
couple of months. You lHive through -Hit. And uh, I don't
know. I don't think that my things disable me so that

I'm not functioning. It would be so much eas-ier not to

have to work through moans and groans and aches and pains
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and not being able to feel my feet. But that's okay. My
mind is still good. And the most important thing, as you
knew about the body, I don't care what happens to the
shell, as Tong as my mind stays sharp, I can maintain an
easy personality with people and be productiive. That's
all. If I can be productive, I don't care what happens
to this body.- Well, God, not too much. But you know,

yeah, I have a lTot of health problems.

Jess-ticas S+ nce you mentioned, you told me your

grandmother was a Russ-ian Jew.

Maureens:s I am Jewish. I was conf-irmed. I showed you
some pictures. My Ffather was a Roman—Catholic Italian.
He still s a practicing Catholic. He Just went back to
it Tately- I guess +if I have to relate to anything, I

relate to a universal God and not Just Jesus Chr-Hist as
God . So I guess that kind of makes me Jewish. But I
don't, you know, I don't adhere Ti ke to the rea’l
religious Jews, Tike you don't eat ham and stuff like
that. Or the kosher Taws. I Took at religion as a
common sense operation. The things that we're, lTike the
kosher Taws Tlike back f-Hive thousand, s-ix thousand years
ago, there was a reason for -Hit. You had wooden dishes
and you had your plumbing so that when you would cook

beef, the grease would get down and when you would have

milk, the milk and the grease would mix. So they had
separate bowls. And to me, that was necessary at that
t-ime. Today, they're Jjust kosher Taws which mean clean
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Taws. They 're not Taws of God. They ' 're Taws of man to
preserve themselves. God's Taws, maybe the Ten
Commandments. I..-TI...the Christians, the Jews and a lot
of other, you know, relbigions believe in the Ten
Commandments. And +HFf in truth, Moses brought these down
in the O1d Testament, they're good, even there -[HAisn't a
God - Whoever thought of them it was really gocod.

I happen to believe there -\is a God. I believe there
is a master plan. I see so many things happening. Just
recently...ocoh, my roommate’'s mother -His dying and we've
been coping with this now for too Tong. But what
happened, our friends came +in from Florida and we hired
this girl to come on Wednesday and we were gonna go and
we ran around and everyth-i rjg Tike that. Well, her
mother, that was the day that she got very bad, s71-1ipped
into a coma, we had to be there. So what happens that
morning? There's this horrendous snow storm, we, the
girl couldn't get in, we couldn't bas-ically get out, who
wants to go ryrunning around. It's ju;t Tike God kept us
there, and then all these things started happening. We
were there during the cr-isis to make the decision and not
a stranger s-itting there. And +if you don't think that I
thought after we had eighty degrees on Tuesday and we

have twenty—one P9 nches in my backyard basically on

Wednesday, that there was a reason for that. Now, maybe
there -"Ais. Maybe there's a, what do you call -Hit? A
weather reasons. I, personally, there's so many things

that have happened +in my 1-ife, I personally know that

there's someone there that guides us. And things happen,
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many times for a reason. They're all been, in my cases,
something that’'s help me make a decis-ion a nice thing.
So, everyday I could relate so many stories, so many
God storties, to you. I don't know -+if there's a God. I
believe that, or a supreme being- But I believe that

there has to be something greater tham myself +in this

universe. And +Hif I want to call them God, that's okay.
If you want to him them Jesus, that's okay. Mohammed,
you know, whatever a person.... The only thing that

bothers me -is someone once sa’id it was religion that kept
the masses in check. That +Hif you were not afraid of
punishment for the things that you would do in this 1-1Hife,
or do, Hit's lTike the Taw. If, I guess I would go rob a
bank +Hif I d-id, ifF I didn't mind spending the rest of my
14ifFe in Ja-til. It's the punishment aspect. And religion
is like that. It gives you some rules and it says +if you
break these rules, things will happen. So even +Hif they
don't happen, and we don't know about -Hit, it does keep
the masses in check. Even at that, it doesn't, men, man
I heard, s the only lHiving organism that doesn't k-+ill
1Tike for food or for protection, that Jjust kills to kill.
Animals when they kill, it's either out of Ffear for
themselves or +Hif they're hungary or something like that.
Man can have no reason to blow the head off another
person. Isn't that exciting to know that we are the
superior orgarisms and we kill for no reason.

So, I do belHieve that there -‘is a God or something,
out there. Yeah, yeah. They -Hdindoctrinated me when I was

kid to go to temple with my great—grandfather, who's
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really nice. Like we had a Christmas tree. So my

grandfather used to call -Hit a Hanukkah bush, my great—

grandfather. What's the d-ifference? A tree -§is a tree.
He never got, my great—grandfather never got upset. He
thought all people had a reason for be-ing My

great—grandmother, Tike an African—American guy would

come because he was hungary An the neighborhocod or

someone would come, she would fTeed them. One guy didn't
have shoes. My uncle was a real spiffy dresser, Willdie,
we called him Acey—Ducey. He TlTooked Tike Edgar G.

Rob-inson. And he had a pair of spectator shoes and they
were new. And he went to the closet, he was getting
dressed to go play his pinochle or something, he couldn't
fFind his shoes. And he Tooked all over. He asked my
great—aunt, his sisters, my great—grandmother. She gave,
some guy came, he old shoes, she gave him his new shoes.
So my FfTamily's always been T1ike that, very giving.
That's how we do. And +Hit didn't make any difference,
even though she couldn't speak Engl-Hish. When my great-—
grandfather d-ied, a Jot of the Italian peocople -Hin our
neighborhood and you know, when we were sitting Shiva -in
remembrance. My grandmother would bring a sweater to
Tony,

was sitting out on the porch and she said, "Tony.
Tony, 1it's cold, -+€Hit's cold,”"” gave him a sweater. She
always made herself understocod. Love and kindness -is
always understood, regardless of the Tanguage. My fFam-ily
was always wvery kind.

But my grandfather, here we were in temple, and all
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the religiocus Orthodox Jews, the women would s-it upstaqirs
and the men would st downsta-irs because you know, we're
all second class citizens. And I, it was like it's
thing where the THittle kids put lTike an apple in and a
candle on this paper flag and they march around, sece.
And they march with the fFive books of Moses.
They have these real beautiful color covers with velvet
and things. The men in the congregation carry and the
kids you know, carry their THittle flag. But then the
Tittle boy s+it downstairs and the 1ittle girls go
upstairs with the-ir mother, see. But my great—
grandfather, I was the only thing I had, I was the apple

of his eye, so he Tet me sit right next to him. And they

would say to h-im, "Herschel, what -HAs this girl doing
this?" +in Jewish and Hebrew. He says, ""None of your
business. She sits wherever she wants to s+it." He was

about four—foot three. And they
those men. And I usually Just sit there with my grandpa.
I was as big as he was. I was five years old.

But those are my memories. I have some bad memories
of religion. I went to Sunday Schoo’l and I got
conf-Hirmed. I won the honor of being the highest grade
and everything. I gave the address. And I won a
scholarship to go to a wvery wealthy synagogue +in the

Hedights, you know, really wealthy. And I went there and

all my lHife peocople would say, "MH ldicia, what kind of
Nname's Milbdicia? It's not very Jewish sounding.™ And I
would say, "It's my father's name." And they would say,

"Well, what's your father's first nmname?"” And I would say,
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""Rocco." And that was like reverse discrimination. They
didn't Tike that I didn't have a Jewish sounding name.
And I heard that all my 711 fe. And then I went to this
hotsy—totsy temple. I didn'"t know then +the Rabbi's
daughter, was her Tast name. I walked in and
they were calling names and she says, "Milbicia, what kind
of nmname -His Milbdicia?"™ It was a bad day.- And I explained
it was Just as good as a name lTike Miller or Steine or
any ., Levine or anything Tike that, perhaps a TlTHittle
better. So much better that I didn't belong there. And
I started walking out and the Rabbi stopped me, ""Where
are you going?™ And I said, "You know, you have to take

your people and your prejudice and keep them. I sa-id,

"I cannot Tive in an environmment with so much negatiwvism

and so much hate.™ I said, "A11 my Tlife I heard that
Jews were discr-iminated against. We certainly do a hel’l
of a lTot of dJdiscr-iminating." And I walked out, and I
never went back. So I never taught Sunday Schoo’l. But

I do teach at Leatherwood Method-ist Church, at Bonnie's
mother's church, I used to teach Sunday School. Because
I know the

pretty well.

I hate prejudice, wherever I see -+Hit. And Hdit's TlHike
with the Africanmn—Americans. They say that peocople are
prejudice against them. Well, there's a Tot of reverse

discr-imination, where they're prejudiced aga-inst the

white people that I honestly believe that. There's so
much hate -+in this world. You know, brother aga-inst
brother, people against peocople. That must be for a
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reason. It must be for a reason. I wish I would know

Jess-Hica:s You talk about hitting prejudice, was -+Hit hard
as a woman to go to col lege when a TJot of women

weren't...?

Maureen: No, no. I was in a field of broadcasting where

I was the only woman that would sit in a class, the

technical classes, camera classes. There was one other
woman 1in the theater fHield +in the t.wv. fHield. She was
Tike a real frail thing with real Tong nails. She would

wear purple all the time and black and had really. she
was really weird. And she was in some of the classes.
But the guys seemingly never...I never asked them to
carry the camera, +Hif €t was my turn I could carry -"dit. I
was a big giril. The one thing I Tearned -+His that +4f they
felt a T4ittle reticent. ... And even in shop in
theater...[audio problems]...women, that -+§if you do your

Job, that they would respect you. No, no problem.

Jess-Hicas You have a reputation for being able to handle
everyone and everything. Is there anything you 're

Aintimidated by? Or afraid of?

Maureen: No, but I have a tremendous JTot of -Hinsecur-ities
that aren’'t obvious. I...I...4iFfF I think I'm not wanted
or something...abandomment...I don't' know. Sometimes I

get really Ffrightened, yeah, I have my moments. Yeah,
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I"'m really an "dinsecure person. It's not that I don't
think I know what I'm doing and everything. It's Just
that sometimes you Took around and go, ""Whew! -Hit's go-ing
awfully Ffast."™ But I'd rather...when I was younger I
wouldn®t try as much. My philosophy was +#if you weren't
going to be successful, don't do -Hit. Because I never
wanted to fa-+il. Now my philosophy s the only fa-ilure -is
not trying. It came with age. It came with the secur-ity
of knowing that I Just have a few. . .what are they gonna
do? Fire me? I have a few more years left. Obviously,
I have people in high places that kind of stil1l1 Tike me.
I try to give them rational reasons for what I would Tike
to do. If they say yes and they say yes a Tot around
here for me, that's good. And +HGiFf they say no, I respect
them. I always ask them +if I can go and ask somebody
else. But I know, I know a no. IFf I had not gotten a
raise in you know, maybe a dime or a nickel or something,
or nNno raise at all, I would understand that this means
now the k-ids have a raise, too. And I hate that. I'm

going to try to make the money so that we don't have to

do that anymore. But I really do need the money. I was
fFHifty thousand dollars over budget. You have to
understand that's a tremendous Tot, amount of money. But
you know why I am. Because you say to me, ""Could I have
twenty "dnstead of ten hours?" And I say., "Yeah." But
you're not the only one. There are a Tot of kids we're
helping.- And they help us. So the money goes back to

the k-ids. If you pay a buck extra, rest assured in this

depar-tment you make your buck back.
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Jess-ticas You have accomplished so much. WNhat do you see
as lJeft for your to do? What. . .do you want to accompl-ish

in the future?

Maureen:= I never, I never...I never thought about this.
Uh. ..I really kind of Tet the guys push me around here.
Your dad comes in with projects...[audio problems]...and
James comes AN with dreams more than projects. And
Susie, I Just kind of Tet the pecople tell me what they

think they need. And +if I can help them make it real-ity.,

I do. I...don'"t really have any ambitions. I guess I
would Tike to go to Flor-ida. I would Tike to move -Hinto
the condo and decorate -+t the way I want to. Maybe work

a l1Tittle bit at the Performing Arts Center, see what the
hell's going on down there. Or maybe not. I don't know.
Po I have to have any? (no) I always said -+#if you don't
have any., then you're dead. Sometimes just getting up in
the morning \is encugh to make me realize I have my whole
day ahead of me.

No, you know what I said, +if I...I can't die because
I"'m so Ffar behind. I told the dean this, I'm so far
behind, +it'11 take me until I'm ninety to catch up. And
that's Just on what I'm not doing.- I mean, your dad's
handing me stuff and he said, "I handed this in already."
I'm going, oh, God, I have a thirty—two page wvita and I
don't know what the hell I'm doing. It was due
yvyesterday. They'11 maybe get -+Hit Monday. I have two
proposals that were due the fHirst. Maybe they'11l get "'em

next week, maybe they won't. Maybe I don't need the five
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thousand dollars, that I have to do so much work. I try
to tell this committee, we do so much all the t-ime that

what the heck's special in my department -[is everyday 14-fe

here -—is special. We are growing in such a way, -€it's so
exciting to see what's happening- We have children's
theater, we have d-binner theater, we cooperate here,

we. . -.what the heck do I have to do to show that we're a
Tittle bit better than everything else that's happening?
I don't know. I think we're doing alright. I don't need
the fHiwve. ... And I may Just say that on next Friday, I
don't need your fHive thousand dollars. I don't need any
grant, I don't want to do this. I might Just say that.
We work +in strange ways. Theater people Jjust work -+Gn
strange ways. And I THike what I do. But I don't like to
be beholding to anyone for a Tousy five thousand dollars.

I'd pay "em fHive thousand dollars to get off my back.

Jesstica:s Is there anything we haven't touched on you

would Tike to be -"Hincluded?

Maureen: No, no. No, I had a great childhood, though.
It seems like everything ended when my mother d-ied, but
it didn't. Really good Tove, a lTot of support. A Tot of
handling problems in a reasonable way- Not Tetting the
Al Tness. - - - Being a doctor, an -“important thing that you
have to Tearn about your patients, -"His that you should not
Tet the +Hi1lness take over their THives to the point that
it disables them AN many ways-. And this happens,

sometimes people are sick for so Tong that they have k-ind
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of an attitude that they'1ll never get well. They 11
never be able to...I think the thing -His that you have to
do what you can do now and not worry about whether you're
gonna get well or not. If you get well, that's Fine.

And +if you don't, why can't you be productive within the

realm that you're there? And that's so -“important, to
give your patients a positiwve attitude. I"'m stil1l1l alive,
I can accomplish things. That's -+Hit.

Jess-tdicas Well, I"T11 Tet you get back to work. Thanks

for making the time for me.

END OF INTERVIEW
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Jessica:s Today -bis March 16th, 1995. I am taping a l11ife

history with Dr. Maureen MilbHicia, the chairman of the
Theater & Dance Department at Marshall Univers-tity. It "G9s
1230 +in the afternocon and we're +in her office. Tell me

about where you were born and youy eariy childhood.

Maureen: Okay, basically, I was born in Cleveland, Ohio.
You didn't know that. Yes, I was born in Cleveland at
Univers-tity Hospital. X was born on a Monday at 9234 -+9n
the mornmning, July 26th, .1937.. I had a mother and I had

a father. And wveou lTaugh, b\[at this bis kind of unusual to

1
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have one of each that were married to each other at the
time. I"m an only ch-+ild. My mother had some

miscarriages, I b2lHieve before and possibly even after.

It was a tough pPregnancy - She was quite -+H171. But
nevertheless, I had my mom and dad with me. And we T1-1Hwved
in Cleveland for awhile. And then we went and Tived -Hin
New York City for awhile. My mother handled talent -+Pin
the theater. We went there after my mother and father
separated. We went there for a couple of years. And

about the time I wWASS supposed to enter school, my

grandmother, who was =) Russian—-Jdewish emigrant, Rose
Campbell was her name, Winetraub's the Jewish part. My
grandfather was a Scot—Irishman, said to her that New

York City was no place to raise a child, who was there by
herself as a single mother. Aind so my mom came back.
From what I understarnd Trom the history of my family, it

seems like my mbH>m and dad were separating quite a bit.



And the basic problem was that my mother reai 'y e o e
that she had to help with her mother and her mother 71-Hwved
with her. And my dad wanted my mother to make a decis-ion
that they would move to Akron, Ohio to work were he went.
And my mother basically chose her mother over her
husband . And so I was probably forty when I found the

d-ivorce papers and fFound out my Father divorced my

mother. ' So I thought that was a bummer because I would
have gotten rid of him. But uh...it was a good, it was
a good T1+Hife. I had a <ccremendous support system. My
mother, my agrandmother and I 1 wved together. My

grandmother had some brothers and siéter‘s who were all
single, they were all emigrants. My Uncle Willie owned
a barber shop in Cleveland. I would go to the barber
shop and he would give me a shave and a haircut for
probably a quarter. And my great—grandmother was stil’
alive and my great—grandfather [audio problems—inaudible]
apple of everyone's eye and probably the only child for
ten years until my cousin was born, my Uncle Sanford's
daughter. So I had a tremendous amount of Tove. Plus
the fact, my mother had quit school in about the eleventh
grade; she got Scarlet Fever or something. And education
is really stressed and really important in our house. We
were very big sports fan because my Uncle Sanford was a
football player. They Tloved -the Cleveland Ind-ians and
the Cleveland Browns. But more than that, they had these
things at the Cleasveland Museum of Art on Saturday
afternocoons for young kids. And I don't know. ..maybe I

was seven or eight. But they were Tike art classes, and



I always TlToved -that. S my grandmother, who was this
Tittle Jewish woman about four—Ffoot three, and I was
already bigger when I was seven years old thanmn she -+is,
because I stand about five—-s-ix or —eight, now...we'd get

on like three buses or streetcars in the old days and

we'd go to the Cleveland Museum of Art where I THive. She
would take me there and she would go home. We would have
TJunch there and painting classes. I'd be there all day
on Saturday. She would come back on all the buses and
streetcars by herself. She would pick me up and we'd go
home, on al’l these buses and streetcars, because my
mother worked. I think I'm telling you that because she

probably abused me mentally because she had Tost a
daughter. I"'m named after her dead daughter who got
killed by an automob-tile, it dragged her about a hundred
feet then killed her when she was nine years old. I was
born short—, you know, Tike a couple years Tater, so she
was wvery protective. Don't go swimming, don'"t walk -in
Fromt of the car. But I'm saying. that because even
though I didn't, you know, I was sitting there thinking
of a year ago, about abuse. And since you are in pre—med
and you're probably "interested in this, bdit’'s -"interesting
the way my grandmother used to spank me or beat me, she
really did. She did some really bizarve th-i ngs. She was
v
a mad Russian. She'd take a knife and ge-t{'—in between the
refrigerator and the stove, you know, when she'd threaten
me, she'd never hurt me. She thought she was doing it

fFor my own good . As I Took back, I think, ""Right, but,

my God, they'd lTock her up in prison today™. Right? ATl



right. But I Toved her anmnd I wanted you to know that -Ff
I mentioned some of these things Tater on that there was
so much Tove and car-ing. I have my Aunt Ethel, who was
again about the size of my grandmother, who would take me

to the movies on a Saturday afternocon with all those

v/mf,?-.'
screaming kids. She had to be abouﬁ} wbér__‘g I am now. I

cou1dn'—t:/, conceive going to the Saturday afternocon, with
the kids screaming and doing things. [audio problems—
Anaud-ible] And my aunt would go and it was Jjust kind of
a aluminum kind of a gun with a pink handle, that was
really kind of Tike a feminine gun, but it was a Gene
Autry gun. They were all single, so they Jjust really
gave me a lot of things, a Tot of Tove, a Tot of time.

Here's a Tady who was basically probably in her "30's and

"A40's at the time, would go and take me places. So I
never really...I guess I felt abandoned because I didn't
have a father. He never did much to try and make amends.

It wasn'"t until my mother died that he became a human
be-ing .- But my step—mother was a very nice person. She
would send me birthday cards and try to keep in touch.
For all the years, un1:'i;! s=she died just about a year and
o] tiet
a half ago, this woman was the reason that my motha&r and
I have a relationship todayw- And my mother...she had,
she had a reason, too. She explained that this woman was
not the reason that they separated, that I should never
blTame this woman. So when you talk about a .dyS'Funct-iona'l
fFamily and the kids run wild and this, I had so much

support and so much understand-ing from so many people, to

try to make me ""normal. I..-I Tove dvrawing. Art was my



fFavor-ite thing to do. They would buy me oil paints when

I was a kid. I had a movie projector they bought +Hin
19473 3 ¥ still have 1t A s-ixteen m-i17T-imeter mowvie
projector, -+t had a real Tight that was the Tamp. It was

92y TN

)
= Kfp I‘J g v

and the date's on -+Hit. I was ten years old. I have al’l
my old FfF+Hilms. They bought me, as I said, oil paints, my
aunt and uncle. I would have wood burning sets. It, for

people who didn't go to college and some of them were

fForeign and some of them, mnot much of an education, they
bought books and records...I had record players. I have
to tel’l you, I couldn’® hawve had a better cultural’l
background +Hdif I'd had college parents. It seems 1-1ike

these people knew everything to do to, for a young person
to be creative and to stretch their mind. I had a
wonderful childhood. I went out and I blew this. And
you"'re probably gonna psychoanaly=ze -Hit. But I really
d-id. I had. . .my mother was my best friend. My
grandmother was my best friend and my worse enemy. I had
a father who was absent. I remember making a remark when
I was, FfHirst came to West Virginia, over thirty years
ago, I was probably in my "'20's, that +if I died, I didn't
want this man...I had already had cancer . So I said -+if
I died, I didn't want this man coming and crying over my
grave. If he couldn't be the type of person that could
relate when I was alive, I didn't want him there. I
ey,
remember my mother wass there, my roommate, rGj_nrfS'/ and her
mother, and everybody, bHit's Just like they stopped dead.

But I really felt that way. I felt so alienated from



this man, that I didmn't want him corying over my grave.

If he couldn't be a person to me, I didn't want him be-ing

a person to a dead body. I probably...I don't know what
the other wor 1dd s 14 ke, I think you go Anto,
personally, into a differemnt dimension. And +if he'd been

standing there, I'd probably spit on his head at that

t-ime. But as X satid, we ' ve resolved a Tot of
o - —F—Fer‘eﬁces = You grow up, you understand. And even +Gif
you don't understand, you forgive, what the hell!? You
only do this T1-+Hife once. You better do the best job you

know how.

But uh...I remember going to plays, I remember going

to movies. My mother would take her day off and we'd go
see a double—feature. We would go ocout and eat, we'd go
to the dime store, I'd get a quarter to buy a toy. She
was wonderful. I was in not the Girl Scouts, Camp Fire

Girls. I wanted to be a Camp Fire Girl. And I needed an
outfit. I 'a gotten a bicycle, I think my father bought
me FfHiwve things ‘in fifty—seven years, ‘arnd the bicycle's
the one thing I remember, so I could kill myself. But I
couldn't ride -+Hit. I had no coordination. So my mother

went to work. She worked at a store downtown Cleveland.

And we talked, and she said +if I Teavrned to ride the

bicycle, she would bring me back my Camp Fire outfit. So
I remember that day- My grandmother even came downstabirs
and said, "Get in the house, you're gonna kill yourself."'

I was falling and I was bleeding.- But by the end of the
day, it was a Saturday, I could ride that damn bicycle.

I had no contact with my mother. She came home form work



and guess what she had? The Camp Fire ocutfit. I never

fFHigured out, either she was Jjust going to br-ing At
anyway, or whether she knew that, g-iwving me that
challenge, that I would do everything +in my power to

ride that bicycle. She really didn't care whether I rode
qit, because she didn't want me rid-ing it being out in the
street anyway-.- I must have been about eleven or twelve,
eleven. : The -"Hidea was ‘“hat it was kind of Tike a blight.
I was such a klut=. People made fun olf m=, that she knew
was -"important for me to riide the bicycle. Personally I
don't [audio problems -+in tape]. ..because I would have
Just taken the bicycle, given it to the boy on the
street. Even then I had that type of ‘ph‘i Tosophy.- She
Just thought it was Aimportant to me, so she made -t
Aimportant for her.

I didn't know I was poor. I was poor. I didn't

tell you that. We used to have a fruit bowl, Tike on the

aluminum dining room table, and it always bhad money -+in
At. You know. ..a quarter, a nickel, a d4dime, change my
grandma would throw the things in there. And I would,

"TMamma, can I have a nickel for a candy car? Mamma, can

I have a nickel for a, a dime for a comic book?" My two
fFavor-ite things in the old days, comic books and candy
bars. And there was always money. And my mother at one

time worked in a knitting mill, so I had all these Tittle

cute sweaters that -"Hdtched me that I hated.

with Tittle skirts. I was a cute TlHititle k-id, Tittle
curly hadir. I never knew because my mother sacr-if-iced
that I had the nicest clothes, the gocd shoes. Back -HGin
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those days, r}in%n dollars for a pair of k-ids shoes,

you're talking f-1ifty years ago. I remember the one thing
that my mother and father, I vremember dissention, was
that he thought that was too much to put on a kid's foot.

I"717 tell you the truth. My dad buys his shoes now at K-—

Mart. So, he's eighty—one years old. And that's what
she had to deal with. But. . .we had good shoes, wonderfu’l
c"lothes./ Always seemed to have enocugh Ffood. For not
only us, but Ffor everybody. I mean, a stranger would

come to the house, we would always have enocugh Ffood -Hin
the pot. A Family could s-it down and eat with us. I
didn't know I was poor. The only time I've ever felt
really, really bad, my =enior year in college at Western
Reserve, I don't know +if I'm going to be able to talk
about this. My mother got wvery sick. I wanted to qu-it
\0
school and work. And she tol’ld me that he whole T-1Hife she

wanted me to have an education, a2and that she would die -+Hi-f

I did this. So I worked at night at General Electric
Ffrom 11 to 7 in the morning. I went and did my student
teaching from 8 wuritil 3:=230. Then I went to my classes

and visited with my mother, because we had to take two
extra classes. And uh, No one was really there to help
Uus . I had an uncle who was Just about a mult-i—
millionaire at that point. I"17 tell you a funny story
about him. My mother's friend, a friend of hers helped
us, but we wou'ld(‘/l"\ave enocough money to pay the rent. You
had to pay it on the first, but we didn't get ocur checks
for disability or anything until about the third, and

with my check. . .. But she had a friend that was so cheap



she squeaked. She used one tea bag for a whole month.
Elsie would have a half—-pound butter or quarter—pound
butter for a whole year. She was really, you
know. . . people made fun of her. And she'd save all this
money and then she'd marry a guy and he'd take all of her

money and disappear. She said, she worked for the city

and she satid she should work fFor the sanitation
depar‘tmént because she picked up all the garbage. And

I"m saying this because this woman @ was my mother's
fFr-iend. She was the only one that would bring n{y money
to my grandmother so she could pay the rent on the fHirst.

Then on the third, when our money would come in, my check

and everything, she would give it back to her. So this
cheap woman was the only one that saved our Tives. No
one else in our fTamily really cared. But I went to

graduate, and you had to have so much money to get your
cap and gown. And I had sold all my books and everything
I could, and I was a dollar short. A dollar short!? And
I was sitting there in the Student Union over at West
Reserve Univers-tity, trying to figure oult how the hell to
do this. This person came over to me and said, ""My. God,
Maureen, I haven't seen you. Remamber you gave me that
dollar a year ago and I"ve been trying to find...I don't
even remember. I do not vemember ever giving anyone a
dollar. And handed me the doliar and I went and got my
graduation gown. I walked home, A9t was a Tot of miles
because I had nc car fare. But I had my gown. And "Hin my
student teaching, the kids that I had there, you're not

allowed to take presents and stuff.... I remember they

10



bought me a white blouse with a Tot of frilly things, and
Just a couple—a tennis racket. I never played tennis,
but I still have -+HPicv. And all these useless things. But
that blouse was Jjust great with this white skirt that I
had so I could wear it underneath my graduation gown.
But, then I knew I was having trouble f-Hinancially.- I

remem r when I graduated, I went and Tooked for a Jjob.

I coul]’i:l not not have a job. I needed a job now. And I
went and I got this Jjob. But I couldn't start for a
weelk . It's almost Tlike God said, ""Take a week, go to
sleep, get up,” you know. .."Tive". And I d-id. From then
I nmnever stopped working. HWe never went hungary.-

But I never realized all of this. That so many
people sacrificed Ffor me. And. . .and that's my youth.
That was my yourg |bife. God, I Tlbdived a Tong time. Okay.,

what else do you want to know?

Jess-tica:s When d-id you move out of New York?
Maureen: When did I move out of New York. Well, we went

there when I was about two, and Teft probably when I was
fFour and a half. Probably two and a half years. We

THived on Seventy—second Street, overlocoking Central Park.

Jessicas And you movexd From New York back to...?
Maureen: Cleveland (Cleveland?) Cleveland at the time
when my grandmother needed us. She got together aga-in

with my dad. But my grandmother then had to lHiwve with

11



us . Then +Hit Just all fell apart. I guess when I was

about FfHive they separated for the Tast t-ime. I don't
know exactly. As I told you, I Ffound their divorce
Ppapers, what? Ten years ago? I was forty—something
before I even knew my fTather divorced my mother. I
remember saying something to him. He said that they had

split many times and that he had asked her to go with h-im
to Akron because he was doing construction work. And she
refused to go. And uh, I think he was fooling around,
but that's alright, because he's eighty—one, he fools
around Now. But I think, it was Jjust that he wanted his
wife with him and she made a choice. She chose her
mother. Personally., I"'m glad she d-id. I bhave to tel’l
you . But +if I had lived +in the enviromment of my dad's
house, I would not have had a college education, I would
not have been able to be what I am today. And I really
Ti ke myse’l-f a Tot, because he's very Italian. He

comes. . -.my mother grandparents were -immigrants, too, from

Italy- And now he's proud of me, of who and what I am.
But you know, so much bis Just 1ike get married, have k-ids
and stuff Tike that. And he was, he's so oppressive. He
really is. He has a horrible temper. I have one, too.
I"'m Just Tike him. I hate +Hit. But I think it would have

been awful T-iwvi ng in that envivrvorment with that man all
those years. I would have never been able to Tike him.
I nmnow Tlove him. Okay? I would never have been able to
Tike him had I been raised by him, to see how he would
have been verbally abus-ive to my mother, domineer-ing. If

you meet my dad, you think he's the greatest guy -in the
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wor ld . Your dad knows my dad. He"11 take the whole
group out to eat and everything. But when it came to
buying me a pair of shoes for nine bucks, he wouldn't

have given her the money.

No, I Tove him, but I would not have chosen to 1-Hike
h-im. I would not choose him for a father. But uh...he's
Fine. You know. . . there's worse. But thzlrt, we Jjust...we
Just Tived there for a very short period of t-ime. And

she continued doing some of the talent work and going to
work and coming back. But my grandmother was there, I
was there, she Jjust settled down to a mundane Jjob mak-ing

Tike a buck—ten an hour, Just encugh for us to starve to

death on. Never, rnevey FfFulfilled hers dreams except
through me. Wanted to be a journalist, wanted to be in
the show business thing, you know, and to manage stuff.

And she had to end up managing a Red Robin's dress shop,
D)L/‘ 23\ 005,
or working in the garment department at H-igr\; v is. Or you

know what I"'m saying? Or Lane Bryant, she had to work at

these shit jobs.

Jesstdicas Why didn't she go -\into journal-ism?
Maureen: Because she had a mother and a daughter to
support. She couldn't go back to school. She wasn't,

she was a wonderful woman and very strong and raised me,
and you know, we never wanted. But she didn't have the
strength to stand up to her mother. She needed somebody .
She needed a good...by the time I was old enough to

support her +in doing what she was, the one thing that I
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hate -is she died before I could give her more. She died
very young. I gave her a Tlot. But I...I didn't have

time to pay her back.

Jess-Hica:s Why did you lTeave Cleveland?
Maur‘een:I Oh, why did I Teave Cleveland. ..because I met

a young man who came to teach at a high school I was

teaching at. - He byrought me to visit his Fam-ily in West
Virginia. I -Fe11 in lTove with West Virginia. NWNe never
got married. I was his sister's roommate Ffor about
twenty, twenty—five years. hWe saw each other all that
time, but we never married. His mother lToved me and she
said, "I Tove you so much I want to tell you, do not
marry my Son. It"11 be the worst mistake you'll ever
make. ™ And she was right. He never got married. I
could tell you horror stories when. ... He is so much for

himself that +it's not that the world revolves around h-im.
It's Just there's no one eelse in his world. B-ig
example. . . . New Year's Eve, his sister and I and
everyone, were Tnvited to a party-. Now, mind you, I'm
not ten years old—I"'m a woman now. I"'m probably twenty—
fFHive years old, twenty—s-ix years old. I"'m down here and
uh. . .he never really said he was going to go to this
party- But I jJust knew he would come down. So we were
sditting there and his sister says to me, "You going to
sit here until midnight? This s New Year's Eve%‘ﬁ why -+in
v
the hell don't you go over there? He"11 Ffind you over

there. Leave a note on the door. No, no, I"11 wait.
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I say this to you because I say it out of uh...an -"Hidea

that you should take a Tesson here. But nevertheless, we
Teft and we went over there to this party- A Tot of
people, nice people having fun. At about ten minutes to

midnight, it was over in Ohio across from Huntington,

[audio problems]. . .docr and everybody's really happy

because guess who walks +{in? Bi11. And he comes +in and
he Tooks at me and he said, "I thought we were going to
spend New Year's together and you're not there. And I
Teft the party- Today, he would hawve TlTeft the party.

And that's the whole thing. What the helil. You had ten
minutes, Nine minutes to New Year's. You could have
stayed- Now I don't drink. But he d4did. You could have
had a drink, you could have had a coke or something. You
could have been nice: to the pecople. I wasn't there
waiting for him. How absolutely absurd. I shouldn't
even have thought about waiting for him. And Gt was
always things Tike that. It's Just Tike...I had, Ff-Hirst
of all, I was an "intelligent adult woman. Why would I be
sitting around waiting for someone. But +Hit's Just that
he never thought I wouldn't be there. I mean, he was
Just, not outraged. I mean, he didn't abuse me. But he
was 1V'i ke hurt!?! I was sitting there. He f-inally got there
at 11:=:30 and I wasn'i there. He never sa-tid he was
coming - I Just knew he was going to be there.

So...so, we're still friends. I mean, not, I mean Just
friends. But it was because of him. He came to teach -+Hin
Cleveland at the same high school. I, when I got out of

college, instead of going "finto teaching or into the
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theater or television or anything, I did do some of the

work part—time. I went -“into r‘e~ta;i Ting Tike my mom. I
was a buying assistant in a department store, making
$52, 000 a year, doing good money. T had an accident. I
have an artificial bone in my Tleft TlTeg- I fell1l down
fHiFfFty steps at the Rapid Transit. So I had a Tot of
problems and I still wor ked the ‘job-‘ But when I

Finished, I realized I couldn't physically do a Tlot of

the things forever. So I went to find a job. I had a
secondary teaching certificate. While I was sitting, no,
they sent me to this high school. While I was sHitting in

the principal’'s office, I was going to teach the Engl-ish

classes, the speech, radio, theater teacher called and

qu-it. And the man Tooked at Ht, it started with a K, a
Tittle old man, God, he must have been ninety. Sa-id,
""TWell, Ms. Milbicia, it Tooks Tike you are more qual-ified

to teach speech and theater and sverything, tham you are
English."™ And I said, "Well..." He said, "How would you
Tike that GJob?"™ And I said, ""Oh, boy, would I." And I
taught at John Adams High School dur-ing the day, and

John. . . John Adams during the day and John Hay at night,

adult education. I always, always had two Jjobs. I was
bored +if I had to s-+it. And Bil1ll came to teach. He'd
agraduated from Marshall. He was an English teacher. e
got to be really good friends. And as I sa-id, I came

down here and I Just. . . Just T11i ke the speed and

everything. I Tiked not going at you krnow, a hundred and
ten miles an hour, Nninety was good enough. There was
Just. . . when I FHirst came down here, my mother sa-id
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something to me. Because we always TlTived -+in the fast
Tane. She sa‘id, ""Oh, my God, after you go down third and
up FfFHifth, what do you do? Or down FfHifth and up third?"
Aﬁd I said, "Well, maybe you grow up." Before she died,

she was trying to get herself in a position, financially,

to come down here aand THiwve w-ith my/ stepfather and
everything.- Because she really Tearned to Tove +Ht.

But you know, it's so different. I mean, you know,
Took at New York City, Cleveland, Ohio. . .Huntington, West
Virginia? But there's so much to be said. ... And I
mean, you really do grow up. You put your priorities in
the right place. And I cane to get a graduate degree.

And they hired me before I graduated and I never Tleft.
So I lTike the job. And poor Bill wasn't here. He was
still up there and he wanted to come back here. He
couldn™t come back here because they didn't hire husbands
and wives, and we were headed -in that direction. I told
him to do -t anyway- But he didn't. [+interruption to

answer telephonel]

Jess-tica:s You mentioned you never marrvried BHill. Why Jd-id

you never marry at all?

Maureen:= Oh, boy, I don't really know. Yes, I do. When
I was twenty—one years old, I was diagnossed with cancer.
And I total and complete hysterectomy. At that time, I
was Just about coming out of college. I was working at
the store. I had a couple of really, really bad years.
I mentioned the accident with the lTeg. But I had 1-1ike
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cancer sSurgery, a complete hysterectomy. I had

gallstones remowval. And the accident was all in a period
of Tike three to four years. I want you to know I never
missed a day of teaching- It would be Tike +Hin the

sSummer . Now I d-id, the job, when I had the job with the
Take, see, I was already-. ... Yeah, I FHrst had the
accident and then other things happened-,' I really 1-14ked
kids. And I hawve to tell you the truth. I don"t...I say
this, but I don't really know the answer to that. Maybe
the reason bis that since I couldn't have chiildren, I
didn't want to put up with a husband. I don"t know. X
Tove my dndependence, I Tove who and what X am.
I.noaIoooo.I relate to men well. I always have. It's not
that. I could have. Today, my friends who were up from
Florida, they made a crack to somesone, we were s-itting
around, that he would marry me at any moment at any time.
And he's eldigible. Uh. . . as you grow older, you grow more
Gdndependent. I had a good Tife and I have enocough money.
I don'"t know. To me marriage meant family- And +HF you

can't have a family, what the Hell do I need with all the

aggravation for. No, you know what I'm saying.- I think
that's +Hit. I don't know. I don't know. But I didn't.
But his mother was r-ight. Bill was not the one.
Jessica:s You mentioned a stepfather. Did your mother
remarry?

Maureen: Yes, when X1 was twenty—one years old, or
twenty—two. She didn't remarry unrntil then. Because she
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didn't want me to have a =smstepfather. She didn't want

anyone telling me what +tom do and maybe bringing strife
into our sHituation. So she dated. She was an
attractive woman, heavy set, but attractiwve. Always had
boyfriends and everything, you know, men friends, who
were very nice tc me. But she really never. . . . And when
she

trash. But, well, he was already put up w-ith my
agrandmother I guess. That's okay. But basically, she
really didn't marry until I was out of college and
working-. It wasn't un£i1 Just before I guess...I was

still THiving at home. And I"'m trying to think the cancer
surgery, and then I moved out after my cancer surgery.
Because my mother and grandmother, every time I would get

a cold or +if something would hurt, they would think,

"Oho - -" And I couldn't THwvwe, I said I couldn't T-Hive with
this. I have to forget and go on with my 14Ffe. So you
have to under‘stahd- My gramdmother threw a fit, because
she wanted all her TlTHittle chicks r-ight ‘there. But my
mother help me selt wup an apartment, not because she
didn"t want me there, and didn't Tove me. But she knew

I had to get away from my grandmother, otherwise, I'd end

up the same way she d-id.

So, she was wveyry bright. So I got an apartment.
Yeah, he was all right. He drank, and I believe he was
an alcoholic. He was never abusive. But, I taught him
how to drive, I bought them their fHirst car. I remember

a Tecture I gave when they bought their really new, new

car . The thing Tooked Tike a wreck and he kept having
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wrecks. He would back "into a tree with nobody else -+in
the car. And I told him one day, ""If you kill my mother
in an accident when you're dr-inking and driving-.." my
mother held her breath because ikt was the only time I
ever talked back to anybody, I said, "you'll never take
vy

another breath on this earth §fFf you "\injure my mother.

And that's the only bad word I ever said to the man. But

it was getting kind of bad. I could see...he did have an
accident that "injured ier, AN a sense, her back, she
already had cancer, which was already in pieces. And
that wasn't very Nnice. Plus the FfFact, he had a
girlfriend on the s-ide. I fFfound that out afterwards. I

remember after my mother died, we were there and a phone
call came in at about 3 o'clock #in the morning, when the
bars closed, 3:30. Ancd I picked up the phone ‘in one room

and he picked up the phone +in the other, and I heard a

woman's voice. So I hung up. And he told me that, he
got dressed and he was going ocut. And I said, "What's
this?" ""Oh, they're calling me -into work.' And so he

walked out the door and I was going out the door after

him with my roommate who was there, because we were there

about my mother's stufif. And she said, ""You're like the
dog who chases the car. What are you going to do when
you catch the car?™ My mother was already dead.

I didn't know my mother knew about -Hit. My aunt was
kind enocough to tell me that she thought my mother knew
this was happening. I hope not. She was a wvery proud
woman - But this guy turned out to be a Jjerk. He was

bleeding me for money and bleeding my uncle for money,
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saying you know, my mother needed this, my mother needed

that. He was really supporting  another woman on our
money -

And then my mother: bou(_;ht some stock. And she
didn'"t put her name and his name on +Hit. Because she was
trying to get herself.... She put my name and his name
on this A1 Tuminating stock where he worked. So that when
she died, he had to come to me -t,o sHign Gdt. And everyone
sa-+did, ""You are such a fool1 "™ But I Just s-tigned
everything over to him. It wasn't my money, it was the-ir
money .- And I d-idn't want anything from him. I Just
wanted r-id of h-im. I wanted rid of him. I didn't want
to become responsible for him in my T1l-+Hife. So I haven't
heard from h-im. He had a son that started bleeding me
for cash, too, and I said, ""Hey, guy, your fTather married
my mother. I didn't cchoose you to raise." He was a
marine, he was working, he had a wife. And he needed my
money, too? Forget that, Dawvid. I diid send him money
once and my roomnate sabid [ inaud-iblel] And so then

he would always call collect and finally one day she
satid, "Dawvid, +if you can't pay for the call, we can't

Tisten. "

Jess-ica:s Was it Bonnie?

Maureen:= No , no, Ginny Plumley (Bill's sister). Dr.
Plumley. She's still1l teaching here. She was a student,
too. We were studentss ogether. But yeah, yeah. ...
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Jess-tica:s Okay., tell me about be-ing at teenager and your

years at college.

Maureen: Now, see, you're asking me about a period of my
Tife that I really don't have any thought about. (okay)
Maybe I wasn't a real happy teenager. And even GAn
college. / Theater‘ was my whole 714 fe. And so I always had
my theater friends. We d4did plays. And I guess I was

Just so focused on the stuff I don't remember having much

of a Tbife in college. I belong...well, I d’idn'-l; belong
to a soror-ity because I thought they were too. . .. So I
Joined this Hdindependent women’s group, Alpha Dexioma.
And then they went national. They Joined the

So I ended up in a sorority anyway. And then kind of. .. I

went to Southern Baptist Univers-ity my fFHirst year .
Stetson, I won an art scholarship there. And the point
was, they didn"t take any Jewish members. So I said, "I
better get out because. . ." you know. And they sa-id no.
So I was probably the fHirst Jewish woman to be in a
Christian soror-ity or something. . But X ended up...I

never. . . it was never "important to me. And I remember

when I went Western Reserve they, the Jewish girls had a

group or sorovity- I Just Nnever [aud-io
problems] . . - types. ¥ Just don't remember a lTot about my
teenage years. I remember Tiking books and drawing and

painting, and Tiking being around adults more thanmn k-ids.

I didn't TlTike people my own age. I always TlTiked to
relate to adults. I don't have much.
I"117 tell you an "incident, though. [interruption—



audio difficulties] ...as I am now, fat. I JTost about
Fifty or sixty pounds and I was a lTooker. I Tooked T1Tike
Sophia Loren, I have some pictures I"'11 show you. Or
Gina Lo'la’br‘"idg'ida- And I really Tooked good. I was a
mode . And the girls that really didn't want to be my
friends when I was fat, when the girls starting hanging
around me, they would "invite me to parties so the guys
would come. And I always thought that I stayed heavy
after that because I thought people 1T-iked me better for

who I was when I was heavy, that they JjJust wanted my body

and what I could bring them. X don't know that that's
true. That might be a Justification. But I always
thought about that. You krnnow. . . I can start and stop
anything. I don't smoke, I don't dr;-i Nk, you know, so
what the hell. I could do not other things, too. But
that happened a couple times in my 1-1fe. Once when I was
very young, there again I had an accident. And I was

dy-ing. And the doctor thought, I didn't get hurt, but

psychology [audio problems ]. - - Vitamin B—12 shots and

THiver shots and all this stuff. And one day, he was my
doctor, he called me and I was about twelwve or thirteen.
We were at an amusement park. And the heat Ffrom the

sheet metal brought, it was called the Dippy—

Whip, brought the sheet metal up and cut my car +in half

and the handle obars. But I released my hands and I
scooted to the side so I was not injured at all. The car
was in half, and the handle bars were gone. And everyone

WAS , "Oh, my God, vou're so Tucky. You should have



You kNnow, we didn"t hawve, I didn't hawve my father or

mother. So the kids, their mothers and fFathers took me.
They said that all the time. I think I "internalized,
"Oh, my God, you're so lTucky. You should have died.'™ I

Tost about fHifty pounds \inmn a month. And that's about the
time, nNno, I was twelve or thirteen. I Tocoked Tike I was
stdixteen. And the doctor just said, "If you want to die,
Maureen, you go ahead, because I'm not going to give you
anything else. There's absolutely nothing wrong with
you . Except, ydu think you should have died, and so
you're willing yourself to die. " It was hard for me to
believe that you could do that. And he gave me that
speech not to come back any more. AndAof course, I went
back. He took care of my family, my grandmother, my
mother and myself. He was my doctor my whole 1-4-fe.

But after that, I turned my whole 1-ife around. And

then that was when I was thin and Toocked good. The
peocople l1iked me. I was about twelwve or thirteen. The
whole thing really made an "“impression on me. That I

wanted people to Tike me for who I was and my mind and
everything, not for what I Tooked Tike. But that's such
a shallow thing.- You know. . .your beauty fades. You ' re
beautiful when you'ye young, and then you get older and
this and that. So +if you don't have anything to offer as
a human being and your body -His the only thing people are
relating to, how scary -bis that? And, and I'm surprised

I thought about it when I was young, but I d4d-id.

END OF SIDE 1
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Jessica:s You've got a couple of JTong—term roommates.

Maureen:=: And I've had a couple of Tong—term not T-Hiving
with roommates, too. I"'"ve lHived a Tong time by myself.
When I came down to West Virginia, I was going for my
master's degree. Bill's stister was here and she was
going for her bache1or'$; even though she's older. She
Just turned sixty, as a matter of fFact. She hates me for
saying that. And so the two of us were TlTooking for a
place to Tive together. We found a wonderful house on
Mi1ller Road for l1Tike seventy—five dollTars a month, which
was wonderful. This man found 9t for us, this guy.,
Shorty, who's dead now. And so we Just kind of T1-Hiwved
together. I got my master's and she Ffinally got her
master "'s. I got my Ph.D. And then finally one day, and
we bought some properties together at different places.
One day it Just dawned on me, "My, God, I went from T1-1ike
mys mother's house to an apartment, then I came down
here. ™ I really Jjust needed to grow up and be able to
stand on my own two feet. I didn'"t need anyone there
around . So I took one of the houses, she took one of the
houses, and that's the way "t was. Then I went to T1ive
An Charleston. Bonnie's roommate wor ked for the
telephone company- She got &2 transfer to the Maryland
area, and Bonnie wanted someone to share expenses. So I
sa-id, "TWhat the heck'. So I bought "Hinto her house.
That's really how it happened. And you know, -"Hdt's kind
of you Tive together "dindependently. But -it.'s not bad.

It"'s not bad having, you know, being an only c<child,
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and her parents adopted -Hit, so her brother's her nepnew.
The younger sister, the one who's the hypochondr-iac,
who's still here with us, trying to take care of her
mother. I will say this for Betty. She's really trying
to help now that the mother's almost close to death. She
really His. So, she's her own worse enemy. But {it's nice

having this family to bitch about.

So, I don't see it as any problem.
Jesstica:s Tell me about how you got \involved in theater.
Maureen: Well, my mother. From the time...I was born,
I really wasn't born in a trunk. But she was always
handling singers and stuff. I never wanted 'to act, but
I always hung around and I Tooked. I participated in the
Cleveland Playhouse, MceK-inley Players, music carnival,

Carimou Theater, a Tot in Junior and senior high school.

It's Jjust that I never remembvered not being bHinterested -in

theater. Even though I did art work, theater was my main
Tove. Not acting, but working backstage and just be-ing
around. And then when I went to college I took a Tot of
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hawving brothers and s-isters to Ffal’l back on, because

Ginny had, she was one of seven. Ginny and Bill were one
of sewven. And I still have all those people are still my
friends. I mean, Just because you don't room with

someone, it doesn't mean you're not friendly any more.
And the same thing, Bonnie has, well, she has a vegetable
for a sister and a Jjerk for a brother, who's really.
well, I won't tell you that. The older s-ister had a baby
and her parents adopted -\it, so her brother's I‘ﬁer‘ nephew.
The younger sister, the one who's the hypochondr-iac,

who's stil’l here with us, trying to take care of her

mother. I will say this for Betty. She's really try-ing
to help now that the mother's almost close to death. She
really is. So, she's her own worse enemy. But +it's nice

having this family to bitch about.

So, I don't see it as any problem.

Jess-ticas Tell me about how you got "involved in theater.
Maureen:z Well, my mother. From the time...I was born,
I really wasn't born in a trunk. But she was always
handling s-tingers and stuff. I never wanted to act, but

I always hung around and I Tooked. I participated -in the



subjects and worked on a Tot of plays-

Jess-tHicas How d-id you end up here? In the pos-ition that

you are in Now.

Maureen: Well, because I came here with B411. They
hired me before I agaraduated. And they hired me, I was

producer/director of educationa’l radio and television.
And while I was doing that, and trying to work around al’l
those i ncompetent malas, the guy An the speech
depar-tment, George Harpold, he just Toved me. He sa-+id,
"Oh, hell, come and teach for me full trime. e And I d-id.
I taught broadcasting. And then they were going to move
into a College of Fine Art, School of Fine Art, Ff-Hirst.
There was a man by the name of Bill Kearns. And Dorothy
Johnson. ..-.I"11 tell xyou this. Dorothy Johnson was the
cha-bdirman. And Bi11l and ETaine and N.B. were supposed to
move, the three of them. And Bill was close to wanting
to retire. We, you probably met him with Elaine. They
still are good Ffriends. And he didn't warﬂ: to go.
Whether he thought that this whole -idea would fa+il, or I
don't know why. But Bi11l wasn't a risk taker. And I
thought, +in my mind, that Dorothy sa‘id if you don't go,
you don'"t have a job. And I thought that was awful. OFf
course, I opened my big mouth and then I sa‘id, "That -is
really not nice.' So she said, "Well, you have somewhat
of a theater background. Why don't you put your money
where your mouth -His?" And I s=sa-hid, "Ne:'l'l'. A9 F they ™11

take me, I"11 go."™ And I went. The first semester I
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taught two theater courses and two speech broadcasting
courses. And the deal was for three years, +if I didn't
Tike them here, then I could go back to speech. Or -+-F
they didn'"t Tike me, you know, iF I didn't Fulfill a
need, then they «could send me back. And that was
written. l‘ Well, the THrst semester I taught two classes,
the second I already taught four, six classes. By the
FHirst summer I was directing. And I ubi, I had, I had

some rough times. And I kept thinking about going back,

and it was still Tike in the thira year. I was going to
go back, but Dorothy didn't answer her phone when I was
hot. And by the time she called me back, I had cooled
off. And so then the time period ended. A couple of

times I went to the deans and stuff anmnd I, I was offered
the chadirmanship of the spee -h/communications department.
And I, for whatever reason, didn't accept that, at that
point. I mean, because they wanted someone from the
AnsHiide. And the dean then, Daryl Leaming, wanted someone
from the outs-ide, not +Hin the department. I didn't, I
knew all these people aaind I didn't want to -impose myself,
although they would have Tiked me. But I knew what they
wanted. So I just told them I wouldn't do -Hit. What
he did His he hired a guy from WWU that Tasted exactly one
yeér- That was a mess. But he said he didn't care what
they wanted—he was going to do this. But I didn't want
to be a party to -[HGit. So I just stayed put. And uh, then
one day I Ffinally took my fHirst summer off, my Ff-Hrst
vacation in about fifty—five years. They called me back

and offered me the \inter-im cha-irmanship and here I are.
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That's how it happened. It"'s mnot, it's..."it's not been
hard, -it'§ not been eas)y. It"'s hard because the man that
was chatdir "bis still there. Think about someone who for
ten or twelve years kept putting you.\” ‘thumb down on this
Pperson and making it an oppr‘(assiye situation and then you
wake up one morning and that person now \is your superior.
I "imagine that's a horrible position to be -Hin. But I
also recognize +Hit's a horrible it puts me -+in because no
matter what I do, it Topoks Tike you're punishing someone
when I really don't. So you bend over backwards not to
do anything, and you become a doormat -in that particular
Anstance. Although I"'ve stood up a TlTittle bit more.
It's kind of a hard thing- I don'"t want to hurt the man.
I don't want to do to the man what he did to me. And yet

he continues to do things to me. And I shouldn't take

T And I...do.

Jess-tiicas You mentioned some health problems that you had

AN your past, and your diabetes now. How -His that?
Maureen: Yes. Well, yes, yes. I have more than Jjust
that. I have diverticulosis and I"'m on pain medication

for different things, deter-ioration of the knees and
hips, of that nature. I bhave diabetic neuropathy. I do
not feel my feet, but I feel pain, and Hdt's hard to

balance. IFf I have no shoes, T can't balance. Excuse



Maureen:= Oh, my health. I hawve a Tot of health

problems. I really do. But I don't perceive them as
being a negative. It seems lTike all my Tife I've had
things, all the way from you know, Tike cancer, which

really didn't affect me, to an artificial bone in my leg
to hawv-ing an append -ix operation, to hawv-ing my gal’l
bladder taken out, to having a polyp removed from my
Aintestines. You know what I"'m saying? It seems Tike
I"'ve always had to cope with something Tike that. And I

Just take Ht, Hit's Just there. And you handle -Hit. As I

get older, I'm more tired. The diabetes with diabetic
Nneuropathy, 1s a real problem. But no-l:: enocough I behave
myselFf. The deter-ioration, the pain, I go to pain
management. There's just a Tot of health problems. But

AF you hear me moan and groan, and your dad moans and
groans, too, I Just have to say, +if there's nothing we
can medically do about -+Hit, you have to lTearn to THiwve with
it and you have to play the hand that God deals you. So,
to me, uh...this 1is okay- They ' re there. What can I
tell you. Every day, you know, you get an abscess here,
they take your teeth out, and now after six or seven
months they ' re gonna put something -#in. I got the thing
AN my neck, my wvertebrae, my fourth and f-+ifth vertebrae's
squashed. I don'"t know why the hell +Hdt's squashed, but
the pain, I had to go to therapy. I did this for a
couple of months. You THive through -Hdt. And uh, I don't
know. I don't think that my things disable me so that
I''m not FfFunctioning- It would be so much easier not to

have to work through moans and agroans and aches and ANTNs
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and not being able to feel my feet. But that's okay.- My
mind bis still good. And the most -important thing, as you
knew about the body, I don't care what happens to the

shell, as Tong as my mind stays sharp, I canmn maintain an

easy personality with people and be productive. That's
all. If I can be productive, T don't care what happens
to this body. Well, God, nol too much. But you know,

yeah, I have a Tot of health problems.

Jessicas SHnce you mentioned, you told me your

agarandmother was a Russian Jew.

Maureen: I am Jewish. I was confirmed. I showed you
some pictures. My fFfather was a Roman—Catholic Italian.
He still is a practicing Catholic. He Jjust went back to
it Tately- I guess +if I have to relate to anything, I
relate to a universal God and not Just Jesus Christ as
God - So I guess that kind of makes me Jewish. But I
don™t, you knNnow, I don't adhe;e Tike to the rea’l

religiocous Jews, Tike you don't eat ham and stuff THike
that. Or the kosher lTaws. Y Took at religion as a
common sense operation. The things that we're, lTike the
kosher Taws Tike back fiwve thousand, s-ix thousand years
ago, there was a reason for -+HGt. You had wooden dishes
and you had your piumbing so that when you would cook
beef, the grease would get down and when you would have
milk, the milk and the grease would mix. So they had
separate bowls. And to me, that was necessary at that

time. Today., they're Fjust kosher Taws which mean clean



Taws. They "'re not lTaws of God. They "ree lTaws of man to

preserve themseaelves .. God''s Taws, maybe the Ten
Commandments. I...I...the Christians, the Jews and a Tot
of other, you know, religions believe GAn the Ten
Commandments. And +F in truth, Moses brought these down
in the O0ld Testament, they're good, even there Hisn't a

God . Whoever thought of them +it was really good.

I happen to believe there -is a God. I believe there
is a master plan. I see so many things happening. Just
recen£1y---oh, my voomnate's mother -His dying and we've
been coping with this now for too Tong. But what
happened, our Ffriends came -‘in from Florida and we hired
this girl to come on Wednesday and we were gonna go and
we ran around and everything Tike  that. Well, her
mother, that was the day that she got wvery bad, s1-ipped
into a coma, we had to be there. So what happens that
morning? There's this horrendous snow storm, we , the
girl couldn™™t get in, we couldn't basically get out, who
wants to go running around. It's jJust Tike God kept us
there, and then all these things started happening. We
were there during the corisis to make the decision and not
a stranger stitting there. And +if you don't think that I
thought after we had eighty degrees on Tuesday and we

have twenty—one Hdnches Ain mys backyar-d basically on

Wednesday, that there was a reason for that. Now, maybe
there +His. Maybe there's a, what do you cal’l At? A
weather reasons. I, personally, there's so many things

that have happened in my TlTife, I personally know that

there's someone there that guides us. And things happen,
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many times for a reason. They ' 're all been, in my cases,
something that's help me make a decision a nice thing.
So, everyday I could relate so many stories, so many
God stories, to you. I don't know -+if there's a God. I
believe that, or a supreme being. But I believe that

there has to b= something greater thanmn myself -in this

un-iverse. And if I want to call them God, that's okay.
IFf you want to him them Jesus, that's okay. Mohammed ,
you know, whatevey =&E person. ... The only thing that

bothers me is someone once said it was religion that kept
the masses in check. That +Hif you were not afraid of
punishment for the things that you would do {in this 141Hfe,
or do, "bdit's Tike the Taw. If, I guess I would go rob a

bank +if I did, +Hif I didn't mind spending the rest of my

Tife in Jail. It's the punishment aspect. And religion
is Tike that. It gives you some rules and it says +if you
break these rules, things will happen. So even +§if they

don't happen, and we don't know about it, it does keep
the masses in check. Even at that, it doesn't, men, man
I heard, -+His the only THiving oyganism that doesn 't kill
Tike for food or for pr‘o\tect-io‘n,l that Just kills to k4i11.
Animals when they k1ill, qt's either out of fear Ffor
themselves or -+Hif they 're hungary or something like that.
Man can have no reason to blow the head off another
pPerson. Isn't that exciting to know that we are +the
superior organisms and we kill for no reason.

So, I do believe that there -is a God or something,
out there. Yeah, yeah. They -Hindoctrinated me when I was

kid to go to temple with my great—grandfather, who's
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really nice. Like we had a Christmas tree. So my

grandfather used to call it a Hanukkah bush, my great—

grandfather. What's the d-ifference? A tree "is a tree.
He never got, my great—grandfather never got upset. He
thought all people had a reason for be-ing My
great—grandmother, Tike an African—Amer-tican guy would

come because he was o ngafy An the neighborhood or

someone would come, she would feed them. One guy didn't
have shoes. My uncle was a real spiffy dresser, Willie,
we ca’lled him Acey—Ducey. He TlTooked Tike Edgar G.
Robinson. And he had a pair of spectator shoes and they
were new. And he went to the closet, he was getting
dressed to go play hiss pincchle or something, he couldn’'t
Find his shoes. Anc he Tcocoked all over. He asked my
great—aunt, his sisters, my great—grandmother. She gave,

some guy came, he old shoes, she gave him his new shoes.

So my Ffamily's always been like that, very giving.
That's how we do. And bt didn't make any difference,
even though she couldn't speak English. When my great—
grandfather d-ied, a Tot of the Italian people -“in our

neighborhood and you krnow, when we were sitting Shiva in
remembrance. My grandmother would bring a sweater to

Tony,

was s-itting out on the porch and she sa-id, "Tony.,
Tony., Hit's cold, dqt's cold," gave him a sweater. She
always made herself understood. Love and kindness -is
always understood, regardless of the Tanguage. My Fam-ily

was always very kind.

But my grandfather, here we were in temple, and al’l
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the religious Orthodox Jews, the women would s-it upstafirs
and the men would sit downstairs because you know, we're
all second class citizens. And I, it was like Hit's
thing where the Tittle kids put Tike an apple in and a
candle on this paper flag and they march around, see.

And they march with the fFive books of Moses.

They ha/\/e these real beautiful color covers with velvet
and things. The men in the congregation carry and the
kids you know, carry their THittle flag.- But then the
Tittle boy s+t downstairs and the THittle girils go
upstairs w-ith the-ir mother, see. But my great—

grandfather, I was the only thing I had, I was the apple

of his eye, so he Tet me sit rHight next to him. And they
would say to him, "Herschel, what -+His this girl do-ing
this?" in Jewish and Hebrew. He says, ""None of your
business. She sits wherewver she wanmnts to s+it.™ He was

about four—foot three. And they
those men. And T usually Just sit there with my grandpa.
I was as big as he was. I wass five years old.

But those are my memories. I have some bad memories
of religion. X went to Sunday Schoo’l and I got
conf-irmed. I won the honor of being the highest grade
and everything. I gave the address. And I won a
scholarship to go to a wvery wealthy synagogue -+in the
Heights, you know, really wealthy. And I went there and
all my Tlife people would say, "MHd lhichia, what kind of
name's Milbdicia? It's not very Jewish sounding. And I
would say, "It's my father's name." And they would say,

"Well, what's your father's first nmname?’” And I would say,
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" ANd that was like reverse discrimination. 1 Nney

""Rocco.
didn't Tike that I didn't have a Jewish sounding name.
And_ I hear‘d that all my TlT+ife. And themn I went to this
hotsy—totsy temple. I didn't know then +the Rabbi's
daughter, was bher Tast name. I walked {in and
they were calling names and she says, "Milbdicia, what kind
of name Hiis Milicia?™ It was a bad day. And I explained
At was Just as good as a name lbike Miller or Steine or
any., Levine or anything Tike that, perhaps a Tittle
better. So much beaetter that I didn't belong there. And
I started walking out and the Rabbi stopped me, ""Where
are you going?" And I sa‘id, "You know, you have to take

your people and your prejudice and keep them. I sa-id,

I cannot THive in an enviromment with so much negativism

and so much hate. " I said, "Al11l my Tife I heard that
Jews were discriminated against. We certainly do a hel’l
of a Tot of dJdiscriminating." And I walked out, and I
never went back. So I never taught Sunday School. But

I do teach at Leatherwood Methodist Church, at Bonnie's

mother's church, I used to teach Sunday School. Because

I know the

pretty well.

I hate prejudice, wherever I see -it. And Hdt's like
with the African—Americans. They say that people are
prejudice aga-inst'them- Well, Tthere's a Tot of reverse
discrimination, where they " re prejudiced against the
white people that I honestly believe that. There's so
much hate An this world. You know, brother against
brother, peocple against people. That must be for a
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reason. It must be for a reason. I wish I would know

Jesstdica:n You talk about hitting prejudice, was it hard
as a woman to g to col lege when a Tot of women

weren"t. ..?

Maureen; No, no. I was in a field of broadcasting where
I was the only woman that wouilid sit “in a class, the
technical classes, camera classes. There was one other
woman 1in the theater field in the t.wv. field. She was
Tike a real frail thing with real Tong nails. She would
wear purple all the time_and black and had really, she
was really we-ird. And she was +in some of the classes.
But the guys seemingly never...Jl never asked them to
carry the camera, +if 4t was my turn I could carry +it. I
was a big girl. The oDn= thing I Tearned -+is that +if they
felt a Tittle reticent. ... And even Ain shop in
theater...[audio problems]...women, that -+if you do your

Job, that they would respect you. No, no problem.

Jessicas You have a reputation for being able to handle
everyone and everything. Is there anything you " re

Antimidated by? Or afraid of?

Maureen: No, but I have a tremendous lTot of "dinsecurities
that aren't obwvious. YewaoTXeaodif I think I'm not wanted
or something. ..abandonment. ..l don't' know. Sometimes 1T
get really frightened, ycah, I have my moments. Yeah,



I"'m really an "insecure person. Lt " s not Tthat 1L aon ©
think I know what I"'m doing and everything. It's Just
that sometimes you Tlook around and go, ""Whew! -€it's going
awfully Ffast." But I"'d rather...when I was younger I
wouldn™'t try as much. My philosophy was +if you weren't
going to be successful, don't do +Ht. Because I never

wanted to fa-+il. Now my philosophy s the only failure -is

not trying- It came with age. It came with the secur-ity
of knowing that I just bhbave a few. . .what are they gonna
do? Fire me? 1 have a few more years left. Obviocously.,

I have people {in high places that kind of stil1ll 1Tike me.

I try to give them rational reasons for what I would 1-1ike

to do. If they say yes and they say yes a Tot around
here for me, that's good. And i Ff they say no, I respect
them. I always ask them -+if I can go and ask somebody
else. But I know, I know a no. If I had not gotten a

raise in you know, maybe a dime or a nickel or something,
or no raise at all, I would understand that this means
now the kids have a raise, too. And I hate that. I"'m

going to try to make the money so that we don't have to

do that anymore. But I really do need the money. I was
FHafFty thousand doliars owver budget. ' You have to
understand that's & tremendous lTot, amount of money. But
you know why I am. Because you say to me, ""Could I have
twenty "Hinstead of ten hours?"™ And I say, ""Yeah." But
you're not the only one. There are a Tot of kids we're
helping- And they help us. So the money goes back to
the kids. If you pay a buck extra, rest assured -in this

department you make your bucik back.
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as left for your to do? What. . .do you want to accompl-ish

in the future?

Maureen:= I nmnever, I never...I never thocught about this.
Uh. .. I rea11y kind of Tet the guys push me around here.
Your dad comes -+in with projects.. .[audic problems]. . .and
James comes in with dreams more than projects. And

Susie, I Just kind of Tet the people tell me what they

think they need. And b F I can help them make it real-ity,
I do. I...don't really have any ambitions. I guess I
would Tike to go to Flor-ida. I would Tike to move -"{into
the condo and decorate -t the way I wanmnt to. Maybe work

a Tittle bit at the Performing Arts Center, see what the

hell's going on down -there. Ov maybe not. I don't know.
Do I have to have any? (no) I always said +if you don’'t
have any, then you're dead. Sometimes just getting up Hin

the morning is encugh to make me realize I have my whole
day ahead of me.

No, you know what I said, +if I...JI can't die because
I"'m so FfFar beh-ind. I told the dean this, I"'m so far
behind, +it'"11 take me until I'm ninety to catch up. And
that's Just on what I'm not doing. I mean, your dad's
handing me stuff and he said, "I handed this in already."

I'm going, oh, God, I have a thirty—two page wvita and I

don't know what the hell I'm doing.- It was due
yesterday - They'11l maybe get -4t Monday- I have two
proposals that were due the first. Maybe they'11 get "'em
next week, maybe they won't. Maybe I don't need the five
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thousand dol lars, TNat 4L NMave TO WU 50U ISl wWerr ro. ey
to tell this committese, we do so much all the time that

what the heck's special {in my department -is everyday 1-i-fe

here \is special. We are growing in such a way, Hit's so
exciting to see what's happening- We have ch-ildren's
theater, we have dHbdnner theater, we cooperate here,

we. .. .what the heck do I have to do to show that we're a
Tittle bit better than everything else that's happening?
I don't know. I think we're: doing alright. I don't need
the fHive. .. -. And I may Just say that on next Fr-hiday, I
don"t need your FfFHive thousand dollars. I don't need any
grant, I don't want to do this. I m'ight_ Just say that.
We work "\in strange ways. Theater people Jjust work -HAin
strange ways. And I Tike what I do. But I don't like to
be beholding to anyone for a Tousy five thousand dollars.

I"'d pay "em f-ive thousand dollars to get offF my back.

Jess-tica:s Is there anmnything we haven't touched on you

would Tike to be "Hincluded?

Maureen: No, no. No, £ had a great childhood, though.
It seems like everything ended when my mother died, but
it didn"t. Really good Tove, a lTot of support. A Tot of
handling problems in a reasonable way.- Not Tetting the
Al Tness . - - . Be-ing a doctor, an ‘important thing that you
have to lTearn about your pati‘ents, is that you should not
TJet the +Hillness take over their THives to the point that
it disables them AN many WaAYS . And this happens,

sometimes people are sick for so Tong that they have kind
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of an attitude that they'11l never get well. They " 11

never be able to...I think the thing is that you have to

do what you can do now and not worry about whether you're

gonna get well or not. If you get well, that's F-Hine.

And +if you don't, why can't you be productiwve within the

realm that you're there? And that's
give your patients a positive attitude.

I can accomplish things. That's +Hit.

Jess-icas Well, I"11 Jet you get back

for making the time for me.

END OF INTERVIEW

41

so "TAmportant, to

I'm still alive,

o work. Thanks
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